
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Tuesday, 13 October 2020.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

 

 
 

Wednesday, 21 October 2020 at 2.00 pm 
Virtual meeting - This meeting is being held remotely using 

Skype for Business 
 

 
Committee 
Members: 

 
Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman) 
Councillor John Dawson (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Bob Adams, Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor Philip Knowles, Councillor 
Susan Sandall, Councillor Ian Stokes and Councillor Mark Whittington 

 
 

 

Agenda 

 Virtual Meeting - Joining Arrangements 
Councillors should access the meeting using the link in their calendar. 

Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link: 

Companies Committee - 21 October 2020 

If you are using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for Business app 

before you can enter the meeting; please allow yourself time to do this. If you are using a laptop or 

desktop computer, you should be able to access the meeting via your web browser. 

When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into the 

meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins. Members of the public should not use the 

Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors, who will use it to indicate that 

they would like to speak. 

If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, e-mail democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. 

 

Companies 

Committee 

https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/7KYL7P5G?sl=1
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

1.   Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence  
   

2.   Disclosure of interests 
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 

meeting 

 

   
3.   Minutes of the meeting held on 22 September 2020 (Pages 3 - 12) 

   
4.   Updates from the previous meeting (Pages 13 - 16) 

   
5.   LeisureSK - company structure and business plan 

Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council. 

Appendices 5 and 7 to this report are exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 

12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because they contain 

information relating to the financial or business affairs of an individual or 

organisation. 

(Pages 17 - 121) 

   
6.   Update on Housing Delivery Partnership 

Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council. 
(Pages 123 - 128) 

   
7.   Work Programme (Pages 129 - 130) 

   
8.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reasons of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

   



 

Minutes 
Companies Committee 
Tuesday, 22 September 2020,    
2.00 pm  

 

Meeting held virtually, via Skype 
 

 
Committee Members present 
  
Councillor Bob Adams 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor John Dawson (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman) 
 
Other Members present 
 
Councillor Adam Stokes (Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources) 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Louise Clack 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew 
(Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy) 
Councillor Virginia Moran 
 
Officers 
 
Strategic Director Commercial and 
Operations 
Assistant Chief Executive 
Director of Law and Governance 
Head of Leisure 
Head of Governance 
Corporate Project Officer 
Democratic Officer 
 

Councillor Philip Knowles 
Councillor Susan Sandall 
Councillor Ian Stokes 
Councillor Mark Whittington 
 
Members and Officers as company 
Directors 
 
Councillor Barry Dobson (InvestSK) 
Councillor Dr. Peter Moseley 
(EnvironmentSK) 
Councillor Kelham Cooke (InvestSK) 
Jonathan Hinde (InvestSK) 
Ian Yates (EnvironmentSK) 
Karen Broadford (InvestSK) 
Mark Jones (EnvironmentSK) 
Paul Thomas (InvestSK) 
Richard Wyles (Gravitas Housing Ltd) 
 

 

 
1. Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence 

 
The membership of the Committee had changed following Annual Council, 
held on 17 September 2020.  Councillor Louise Clack no longer served on the 
Committee and Councillor Bob Adams had joined the Committee.   
 
No apologies for absence were received.   

3

Agenda Item 3



 
 

2. Disclosure of interests 
 
No interests were disclosed. 
 

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 30 June 2020 
 
Clarification was sought from a member regarding minute number 23., 
Business Plan for Gravitas. The Committee had requested a new Business 
Plan; however, one had yet to be forwarded.  The Chairman advised that due 
to the amount of business scheduled for the meeting, the Business Plan for 
Gravitas would be considered at the next meeting of the Committee.   
 
A member queried why architectural costs from Alpine Planning were included 
in costs for DeliverSK.  Officers advised that this should not have been 
included and an updated breakdown was to be discussed as part of the 
business of the meeting.   
 
It was queried why St. Martin’s Park was not being considered at the 
Companies Committee.  The Leader of the Council advised that as St. 
Martin’s Park was not being delivered by a company of the Council, it did not 
fall within the Committee’s remit, it was therefore considered at the Finance, 
Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 30 June 2020, were agreed as a correct 
record.   
 

4. Companies Committee Workshop Conclusions 
 
Members of the Companies Committee participated in an informal Workshop 
on 28 July 2020.  The Workshop was intended to clarify the Committee’s 
expectations and requirements from the Council’s wholly owned companies.   
 
The Chairman advised that there was an open opportunity at the Workshop to 
identify items that could be considered at Committee. The Chairman and Vice-
Chairman took the conclusions and produced a draft reporting schedule for 
the wholly owned Council Companies to report to the Companies Committee.  
 
A non-Committee Member expressed their concerns regarding the Workshop 
and they felt that the workshop did not provide an open opportunity to speak.  
They also advised that their comments had not been withdrawn at the 
meeting, which was contrary to the detail included within the agenda item.   
The Chairman noted the comments made by the Member and stated that this 
was not their recollection of the Workshop.   
 
A Member advised that they felt that the draft business plan was difficult to 
read because of the size and colour of the font that had been used.  The 
Chairman echoed the Member’s concerns.  

4



 
 

 
Clarity was sought regarding the membership of the Committee and it differing 
to the agenda.  It was requested that any changes to the membership that 
were made following the publication of the agenda be detailed within the 
minutes. It was suggested that this should be the procedure for all 
Committees, should any changes occur.   
 
ACTION 
 
That clarification on any changes made to Committee Membership 
following the publication of the agenda be detailed within the minutes of 
the meeting.   
 
A member felt that it had been a challenge to hold company directors to 
account which needed to be improved. This would also help to provide 
transparency. The Chairman agreed that it was very important to hold 
directors to account as a ‘critical friend’.   
 
A member highlighted the recommendations made within the agenda item and 
proposed to the Committee that they be agreed.  The Committee agreed that 
the recommendations of the workshop in respect of the reporting 
requirements, the frequency of reports and the format of the business plan be 
approved.   
 
DECISIONS 
 
1. That the table included within agenda item 4 be used to update the 

Companies Committee work programme. 
 

2. That the business plan template is adopted as the Companies 
Committee’s preferred default template, subject to the amendments 
regarding font and its visual appearance.  

 
  

 
5. Exclusion of Press and Public 

 
DECISION 
 
It was proposed, seconded and agreed that the press and public be excluded 
during the following item of business because of the likelihood that exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of, Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended) would be disclosed to them. This is 
because the papers contained information relating to the financial or business 
affairs of an individual or organisation.  
 
Councillor Baxter requested that his objection to the exclusion of the press 
and public be noted.  

5



 
 

  
 

6. Formation of LeisureSK 
 
The Committee received a report from the Deputy Leader of the Council on 
the formation of LeisureSK.   
 
The Council’s current leisure facilities were operated under a leisure contract 
arrangement; that contract was due to end on 2 January 2021.  A 15-month 
extension to the current contract was agreed in December 2019, by Cabinet.   
 
The Council had been assessing the impact of Covid-19 on the leisure 
service, both in terms of the agreed financial support package currently being 
provided to 1Life and also how Covid-19 had affected the Council’s plans for 
the future management of the leisure service.   
 
The assessment indicated that previous decisions made in relation to the 
management of leisure services had been impacted both in the short and long 
term.  Covid-19 had caused instability in the leisure operator market, therefore 
making it difficult to secure any new management contract by April 2022.   
 
There was a recommendation to transfer the leisure facility to a wholly owned 
Council company, against the previously agreed contract extension.  Despite 
the acknowledgment of increased costs for the Council, the advantages of this 
option included regaining full management and operational control which 
could therefore provide the opportunity to maximise income, control costs and 
improve performance. The Council could also consider bringing forward 
leisure improvement works, without having to deal with contract variation 
costs.   
 
The transfer of the leisure service to a wholly owned council company was 
approved by the Cabinet on 18 August 2020.  A recommendation of Cabinet 
was that a report be presented to the Companies Committee, which set out 
the optimum company structure, business plan and expenses. The report had 
been scheduled for review by Companies Committee on, 21 October 2020. 
 
Due to the short timescales involved, it was proposed that the company be set 
up with a single Director, Councillor Dobson, the Deputy Leader of the 
Council. This would enable the registration of the company.   
 
The Committee was given the opportunity to ask questions and discuss the 
proposals. Comments related to: 
 

 The impact of the transfer of staff employed by the current provider. 
 

 The preference of transferring to the service to a Council-owned 
company in favour of direct management by the Council 
 

6



 
 

 Providing reassurance to the Committee around the business plan for 
the company and budget allocation 
 

 Concern about the appointment of only one Director in the first 
instance, together with arrangements for appointing further directors 
following the establishment of the company 

 
The Chairman advised that the recommendation on budget allocation was 
considerable and highlighted a potential risk in making that allocation with no 
business plan in place.  Re-assurances were required at the next meeting of 
the Companies committee, which should be included within the upcoming 
report.  
 
A non-committee member expressed their concerns regarding the credentials 
of the suggested Director appointments, suggesting an alternative such as an 
officer with experience of the leisure industry.   
 
The Leader advised that the appointment of a sole Director was for the 
present time, to establish the company.  Then further director appointments, 
along with external non-executive directors, would be made at a future 
meeting.  
 
Members considered the recommendations in the report and a vote by 
exception was taken.   
 
DECISIONS:  
 
1. That the urgent nature of the report was noted. 
 
2. Approval of the request to establish LeisureSK as a wholly owned 

Council company, at the earliest opportunity, to facilitate to a 
transfer of the leisure service. 

 
3. That the Committee receive a further report on 21 October 2020, 

with full details on the proposed company structure and five-year 
business plan. 

 
4. To recommend to Council that the budget allocation, not exceeding 

£500,000 be approved the support the formation of LeisureSK.  
 
5. To recommend that Council delegates the approval of any 

necessary expenditure to the Strategic Director of Growth in 
consultation with the Section 151 Officer.   

 
 
 
 

7



 
 

7. Gravitas Housing Limited 
 
The Chairman, with the Committee’s approval, invited any members of the 
press and public back into the meeting.  
 
The Committee received a report from the Deputy Leader of the Council on 
Gravitas Housing Limited.  The report provided an update on the Wherry’s 
Lane, Bourne development project, for the period up until 31 August 2020.  In 
addition, the report sought the appointment of four additional directors to 
Gravitas Housing Limited.   
 
Gravitas Housing Limited, a wholly owned Council company, limited by shares 
was incorporated on 30 January 2017.  The purpose of the company was to 
deliver quality new housing within the District.  One scheme, to date, had been 
approved by Shareholders; Wherry’s Lane, Bourne.   
 
Independent local estate agents had been appointed to market and sell the 
properties on behalf of the company.  There had, to date, been 5 completed 
sales and 7 deposits secured.  The Coronavirus pandemic had had a 
detrimental impact of the sales forecast, with no sales or deposits between 
April and July 2020.  
 
The company had been advised to continue with marketing the units for sale, 
in order to generate capital receipts, to meet the Council loan and other 
contractual costs.   
 
The Articles of Association for the company stated that the quorum for any 
decision was three voting Directors.  Two of the company’s Directors were no 
longer in the employ of the Council and had therefore resigned from the 
company.  This had left the Company inquorate, meaning no decisions could 
be taken, with only one remaining director.   
 
The Committee was therefore asked to make recommendations to Council on 
the appointment of new directors.  The proposals were as follows:  
 

 Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council;  

 Councillor Barry Dobson, Deputy Leader of the Council; 

 Paul Thomas - Strategic Director for Growth; and 

 Director of Housing and Property (subject to approval of the post by 
Council).   

 
It was felt that the proposed appointments would bring political and 
professional strategic support, which would enable Gravitas Housing Ltd to 
successfully deliver the Wherry’s Lane development and bring forward 
proposals for new projects for the Committee’s consideration.   
 

8



 
 

A member queried why two councillors had been added to the directorship, 
which had formerly comprised Council officers only. The member also asked if 
there was any update on the Stonebridge Road development.  
 
The Committee was advised that the Stonebridge Road Development was not 
a Gravitas Housing Ltd project.  It was purchased directly by the Council and 
formed part of the Council’s assets.   
 
It was requested that a business plan be brought forward for the Company; it 
had been 3 years since the company was formed and a business plan had yet 
to been seen by Members.  It was advised that the Director appointments 
were required for any business of the Company to continue and put forward 
any plans.  
 
A non-Committee member asked why political appointments had been 
suggested and if those named had the appropriate credentials.  It was also 
questioned if there was any conflict of interest of one Director also being the 
Council’s Section 151 Officer.   
 
The Chief Executive advised that at the time of appointment, the Interim 
Director of Finance, who was currently the only remaining company Director, 
had been the Deputy Section 151 Officer.  When Mr Wyles resumed his 
substantive post, he would also then become deputy Section 151 Officer 
again. The Director for Law and Governance advised that as the Company’s 
only shareholder was the Council, it was appropriate that a mixture of 
Councillors and Officers be appointed to its directorship.   
 
DECISION 
 
1. That the update on the Wherry’s Lane Bourne Development was 

noted. 
 
2. That the following be recommended to Cabinet as Directors of 

Gravitas Housing Limited. 
 

a. Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council; 
b. Councillor Barry Dobson, Deputy Leader of the Council; 
c. Paul Thomas, Strategic Director; and 
d. Director of Housing and Property.  

 
Councillor Ashley Baxter requested that his abstention from the vote be 
recorded. 
 

8. InvestSK 
 
A report was received from the Deputy Leader of the Council on an update on 
the recent restructuring of InvestSK and sought input on the proposed future 
direction of the Council’s Economic Development Company.   

9



 
 

 
The Committee was reminded of the origin of InvestSK and how it had been 
developed since its incorporation on 13 June 2018.  
 
A draft business plan for InvestSK emanated from the emerging SKDC 
Corporate Plan, with a number of actions from this, to be delivered by 
InvestSK.   
 
Councillors were pleased that a business plan had been developed for 
InvestSK, however there was some disappointment that no key performance 
indicators (KPIs) were included.  The Chairman agreed that KPIs needed to 
be included and requested that any set be considered by the Companies 
Committee at a later date.  
 
ACTION 
 
That the Committee receive KPIs for InvestSK, for consideration.  
 
The current staffing structure of the Company was queried, including whether 
the £600,000 had been used to pay for the secondments from South Kesteven 
District Council.  The Strategic Director, Growth advised that there had been a 
number of secondments from SKDC, however that was no longer the case.   
 
A non-committee member expressed concern about the language used in the 
business plan and felt that it could be less passive.  The Member also noted 
that the inclusion of qualitative KPIs would also be useful when measuring 
performance of the company.   
 
 

9. HomesSK 
 
With the Chairman’s approval it was agreed to withdraw this item from the 
agenda, for consideration at a later date.   
 

10. Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
DECISION 
 
It was proposed, seconded and agreed that the press and public be excluded 
during the following item of business because of the likelihood that exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of, Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended) would be disclosed to them. This is 
because the papers contained information relating to the financial or business 
affairs of an individual or organisation.  
 
 
 

10



 
 

11. EnvironmentSK 
 
The Committee received a report from the Director and Chairman of the Board 
for EnvironmentSK Ltd.   
 
EnvironmentSK Ltd was a wholly owned Company of South Kesteven District 
Council, which provided grounds maintenance, arboriculture and horticultural 
services to the Council, other authorities, parish/town councils, businesses 
and the public. The report presented the Committee with the Business Plan for 
the Company, set out the ambitions of the Company.  
 
The Committee noted that the document included a lot of detail and a great 
level of due diligence, which provided great confidence. Additionally, it was 
noted that the contents of the Business Plan were very positive and should be 
shared with the public as good news, it was however an exempt item.  
Committee members requested that a Business Plan without commercially 
sensitive information, be made available to the public.  The Chairman of the 
Board explained that a great deal of the information in the Business Plan was 
indeed commercially sensitive and should not be made available publicly.  It 
was agreed however that a document for public consumption could be worked 
towards.  
 
A member raised a query about employees’ salaries and asked if the 
company was able to review the matter.  It was also felt that some of the 
projections within the Business Plan were not realistic. The Member was 
advised that employees’ salaries were an operational decision and not within 
the remit of Companies Committee to request a review.  The Company had to 
remain competitive within the marketplace.  
 
Concerns were raised about priorities of the Company and the quality of the 
service in the future. It was noted that there had been an improvement in 
quality and it was hoped that this would continue.  The Chairman of the Board 
advised that the Company had received a number of compliments from 
customers, with complaints dropping considerably.    
 
The Committee noted that there was considerable positivity in the Business 
Plan, however Members would have preferred the inclusion of more detailed 
information.  It was also agreed that a version of the Business Plan that was 
not commercially sensitive should be shared with the public.   
 
ACTION 
 
That some of the key messages and successes from the EnvironmentSK 
Business Plan should be put in to a format, that did not include any 
commercially sensitive information, so that it could be shared with the 
public.   
 

11



 
 

After consideration of the report Members of the Committee agreed 
unanimously to note its content.  
 

12. DeliverSK 
 
A report on Deliver SK was received by the Committee; the purpose of the 
report was to consider the due diligence carried out in respect of the 
prospective co-investment partner for DeliverSK.  
 
Members discussed the content of the report and its appendices and agreed 
unanimously to approve the recommendations as detailed within the report.   
 
DECISION 
 
1. That the committee noted the due diligence carried out 
 
2. To recommend to Cabinet that DeliverSK, a co-investment 

partnership, was not required at that point in time to move forward 
growth schemes in the District.   
  

 
13. Work Programme 

 
The Chairman, with the Committee’s approval, invited any member of the 
press and public back into the meeting.  
 
The Committee noted the work programme, which was circulated with the 
agenda.  
 

14. Close of meeting 
 
The meeting closed at 16:39 
 
 
 

12



 

 
 

Companies Committee – 2020/2021 

Actions of meeting held on 22 September 2020 
 

 Task Assigned to Deadline Noted by Progress/Comments 

22 September 2020 

32 Companies Committee Workshop Conclusions 

1. That clarification on any 
changes made to 
Committee Membership 
following the publication 
of the agenda be 
detailed within the 
minutes of the meeting.   

Democratic 
Services 

16 October 
2020 

Shelley 
Thirkell 

Noted 

2. The table included 
within agenda item 4 
(Companies Committee 
Workshop Conclusions) 
be used to update the 
Companies Committee 
work programme. 

Democratic 
Services (Naomi 

Page) 

16 October 
2020 

Shelley 
Thirkell 

Work programme updated prior to agenda publication.  

 3. If required, the 
frequency of the 
Companies Committee 
meetings be increased 
to meet the timescale of 
reviewing and 
scrutinising the business 
plans and accounts. 

Democratic 
Services 

Ongoing 
assessment 

in 
consultation 

with the 
Chairman 

Shelley 
Thirkell 

Ongoing. 

13

A
genda Item

 4



 

 
 

 Task Assigned to Deadline Noted by Progress/Comments 

 4. That the business plan 
template is adopted as 
the Companies 
Committee’s preferred 
default template, subject 
to the amendments 
regarding font and its 
visual appearance.  

Democratic 
Services 

16 October 
2020 

Shelley 
Thirkell 
Shelley 
Thirkell 

The final business plan template (including the 
suggested amendments) was circulated to Company 
Directors on 29.09.20 for their use 

34 Formation of LeisureSK 

1. Approval of the request 
to establish LeisureSK 
as a wholly owned 
Council company, at the 
earliest opportunity, to 
facilitate to a transfer of 
the leisure service. 

Karen Whitfield  Shelley 
Thirkell 

Report to be included in the agenda for the 21.10.20 
meeting. 
 

2. That the Committee 
receive a further report 
on 21 October 2020, 
with full details on the 
proposed company 
structure and five-year 
business plan. 

Karen Whitfield 13 October 
2020 

(agenda 
publication 
deadline) 

Shelley 
Thirkell 

Report to be included in the agenda for the 21.10.20 
meeting. 

3. To recommend to 
Council that the budget 
allocation, not 
exceeding £500,000 be 
approved the support 
the formation of 
LeisureSK.  

Karen Whitfield 1 
November 

2020 

Shelley 
Thirkell 

Report was considered by Council at the 1 October 
2020 meeting.  

4. To recommend that 
Council delegates the 
approval of any 

Karen Whitfield 1 
November 

2020 

Shelley 
Thirkell 

Report was considered by Council at the 1 October 
2020 meeting. 

14



 

 
 

 Task Assigned to Deadline Noted by Progress/Comments 

necessary expenditure 
to the Strategic Director 
of Growth in 
consultation with the 
Section 151 Officer.   

35 Gravitas Housing Limited 

That the following be 
recommended to Council as 
Directors of Gravitas 
Housing Limited. 
 
a) Councillor Kelham 

Cooke, Leader of the 
Council; 

b) Councillor Barry 
Dobson, Deputy Leader 
of the Council; 

c) Paul Thomas, Strategic 
Director; and 

d) Director of Housing and 
Property. 

Democratic 
Services 

16 October 
2020 

Shelley 
Thirkell 

A report was considered by Council on 1 October 2020, 
which approved the appointment of the following 
positions to be Directors of Gravitas Housing Limited: 
 

• The Leader of the Council 

• The Deputy Leader of the Council 

• The Director of Culture and Growth 

• The Director of Housing and Property 

36 InvestSK 

That the Committee receive 
KPIs for InvestSK, for 
consideration. 

InvestSK  Shelley 
Thirkell 

 

39 EnvironmentSK 

Amended action: 
That some of the key 
messages and successes 
from the EnvironmentSK 
Business Plan should be 
put into a format, that did 
not include any 

Communications 
Team 

  This request has been passed to SKDC’s 
Communications Team to factor in to their future 
workplan and/or for consideration to include within 
upcoming communications/publications 

15



 

 
 

 Task Assigned to Deadline Noted by Progress/Comments 

commercially sensitive 
information, so that it could 
be shared with the public. 

40 DeliverSK 

To recommend to Cabinet 
that DeliverSK, a co-
investment partnership, was 
not required at that point in 
time to move forward 
growth schemes in the 
District.   

Chris Pike 
Assets Manager 

16 October 
2020 

Shelley 
Thirkell 

 

 

16



 

 

 

Companies Committee 
21 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Barry Dobson 

  The Deputy Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

LeisureSK Company Structure and Business Plan 

This report follows the decision by Cabinet, and the subsequent endorsement of Companies 
Committee, to transfer the leisure service to LeisureSK on the expiry of the current leisure contract 
on the 2 January 2021.  The report details the further work which has been undertaken to establish 
the company and develop a high-level five-year business plan for LeisureSK. 

 

 

Report Author 

Karen Whitfield, Head of Leisure 

Tel: 01476 406239 

Email: karen.whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Agility Administrative Two or more Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Paul Clarke, Finance Lead – Housing Delivery 8 October 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 13 October 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the 
Council 

13 October 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the further work undertaken to establish the optimal company structure for 
LeisureSK which will ensure that the company is financially efficient and can benefit 
from savings in relation to VAT and business rates. 

2. Endorses the draft Articles of Association, Members Agreement and Resourcing 
Agreement detailed within the report as the main documents which will govern the 
Council’s relationship with LeisureSK. 

17

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

3. Endorses the five-year high-level business plan provided within the report for the 
purposes of allowing the Council to make appropriate budget allocations to support 
the ongoing operation of LeisureSK. 

4. Agrees to receive a detailed business plan from the Directors of LeisureSK at the 
earliest opportunity once the company has been fully established and the Directors 
have been appointed. 

5. Endorses the commencement of a recruitment process to identify a suitably 
qualified and skilled Non-Executive Director to sit on the Board of Directors for 
LeisureSK. 

6. Recommends to Council that the Leader of the Council and the Director of Growth 
and Culture be appointed as Directors of LeisureSK. 

7. Notes that LeisureSK may require working capital in advance of the company being 
operational in order to ensure a smooth transition to the new arrangements. 

 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 On the 18 August 2020 Cabinet made a decision to transfer the leisure service to a wholly-

owned Council company on the expiry of the Council’s leisure contract with Leisure in the 

Community Ltd (trading as 1Life) on the 2 January 2021. 

1.2 Due to the short timescale, and the urgent nature of the work, Companies Committee 

considered a report on the 22 September 2020, and as a result endorsed the establishment 

of LeisureSK and recommended to Council that a budget not exceeding £500,000 should 

be established in order to support the associated upfront costs of forming the company.  

1.3 Since the meeting of Companies Committee on the 22 September 2020 work has been 

undertaken to establish the optimal company structure for LeisureSK, and on a mobilisation 

plan to ensure a smooth transition of the leisure service to the new arrangement on the 3 

January 2021. 

1.4 This has included the development of a five-year business plan, preparing draft Articles of 

Association and associated legal documents, and the consideration of the appointment of 

additional Directors. 

1.5 Work has also continued with regard to consulting with the existing leisure centre staff on 

their transfer to LeisureSK and to identify the necessary equipment, IT arrangements and 

supplier agreements that will be necessary to ensure the continued operation of the leisure 

facilities. 

Establishment of LeisureSK: 

1.6 As detailed within the report presented to Companies Committee on the 22 September 2020 

LeisureSK had already been established as a ‘shell’ company in order to protect the 

company name.  This has also allowed the Council to start to put the necessary 

infrastructure in place including applying for a bank account.   

1.7 LeisureSK has been set up as a not for profit Teckal company limited by guarantee.  Teckal 

is a term derived from a European case that enables a public body to set up a company for 

which at least 80% of its activities are on behalf of that public body.  The Teckal status of 

the company enables the Council to directly award the leisure services contract without 

going through a competitive tender process. In turn, it also means that the company has to 

procure goods and services through EU procurement law. 

18



 
 

1.8 To ensure that LeisureSK can benefit from the optimum VAT position and take advantage 

of any National Non-Domestic Rate (business rate) relief, the Council has received 

independent advice from PS Tax and Bevan Brittan on the optimum way to structure the 

company. 

1.9 As a result of this advice LeisureSK has been established as a non-profit distributing 

organisation (NPDO).  This will allow the company to qualify for VAT exemptions in Group 

6 (Education) and Group 10 (Sport, sports competitions and physical education) of Schedule 

9 to the VAT Act 1994.   

1.10 The NPDO status will allow LeisureSK to apply a VAT exemption to the majority of the 

services it offers including gym memberships, casual gym use, swimming, personal training 

sessions, hire of sports facilities and coaching/training sessions.  This will avoid LeisureSK 

either having to absorb the VAT element of the fees and charges or having to increase the 

cost of activities by 20% to cover the VAT. 

1.11 Although LeisureSK is a wholly-owned Council company, in order to achieve the maximum 

VAT savings it will be necessary to ensure that there are formal arrangements between the 

two organisations which clearly establish their relationship and demonstrate that LeisureSK 

is sufficiently independent from the Council.  This will be necessary in order to satisfy the 

requirements relating to independence as set out by HMRC.  

1.12 It will be necessary therefore to put in place legal arrangements between the Council and 

LeisureSK.  The Council will define its relationship with LeisureSK through a combination 

of the following key documents: 

Leisure Management Contract: 

1.13 This document will provide a formal basis for the operation of the leisure service and will 

detail the Council’s expectations on how the leisure facilities will be managed.  The contract 

will also contain a leisure services specification which will set the operating parameters of 

the facilities and the key performance indicators the Council will expect LeisureSK to 

achieve on its behalf.  

1.14 The leisure management contract is currently being developed and it is proposed that the 

initial term will be for two years with the ability to extend this term annually up to a maximum 

total of five years from the 3 January 2021.  

1.15 The Council’s leisure team will be responsible for the management of the leisure contract 

with LeisureSK, ensuring that the facilities are being operated safely and to a high standard 

in line with the Council’s requirements.  

Leases and Alternative Arrangements: 

1.16 As Grantham Meres Leisure Centre and Stamford Leisure Pool are owned by the Council, 

it is proposed that the Council will grant a lease to LeisureSK for each of these two facilities.  

As Deepings Leisure Centre and Bourne Leisure Centre are dual use facilities, and therefore 

not under the Council’s ownership, alternative appropriate arrangements will need to be in 

place to provide LeisureSK with the authority to run these two facilities on the Council’s 

behalf.  The Council is currently working with legal advisers to finalise the arrangements; for 

Bourne this is likely to be a licence to operate the facilities, and in the case of Deepings 

Leisure Centre all parties will sign up to a letter of agreement.  

1.17 In line with the contract it is proposed that the leases and alternative arrangements are also 

for an initial term of two years which will be reviewed annually up to a maximum of five years 

in total. 

19



 
 

Resourcing Agreement: 

1.18 A draft Resourcing Agreement is attached to this report at Appendix One.  This document 

details the support services the Council will provide to LeisureSK including finance, HR, 

asset management and IT support.  The Council will recharge the company for any services 

provided in this regard, which again demonstrates independence from the Council in order 

to benefit from the VAT exemption. 

Articles of Association: 

1.19 Draft Articles of Association are attached to this report at Appendix Two.  This document 

sets out the Council’s relationship with LeisureSK and, together with the Members 

Agreement, will form the governance arrangements for the company.   

1.20 LeisureSK has been established as a company limited by guarantee with the Council being 

the sole shareholder.  The Council’s liability is limited to £1 which is the amount that it 

undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of it being wound up.  

1.21 The objects of the company are: 

a) to provide leisure, sports and cultural facilities and services; 

b) to liaise and co-operate with all interested groups within the community to develop 

 and deliver this service; 

c) to promote and enter into partnerships or arrangements of all kinds to improve or 

 extend the facilities and services offered; 

d) to explore all avenues of funding and finance for such services; 

e) to improve health and wellbeing through a range of outcomes, including reduced 

 obesity, reduced anti-social behaviour and narrowing the health inequality gap; 

f) to increase jobs, strengthening the local economy and enable children, young people 

 and adults to learn and be ready for work; 

g) to carry on any other trade or business which in the opinion of the Directors is in the 

 best interest of the company or the Council; and 

h) without prejudice to any of the objects listed above to carry on any trade or business 

 of a general commercial company. 

1.22 Subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association the Directors of LeisureSK will be 

responsible for the management of the company’s business.  However, included within the 

Articles is a provision that the Council may by special resolution direct the Directors to take, 

or refrain from taking, specified action. 

1.23 The Articles of Association include the procedures for meetings, decision making and 

resolutions by the Board of Directors.  The numbers of Directors shall be a minimum of one 

and a maximum of five and the quorum for the transaction of business of the Directors shall 

be two.   

1.24 As owner of the company and sole shareholder the Council will have the right to appoint 

and remove Directors at any time. 

1.25 The Articles of Association provide that the Directors will be able to purchase and maintain 

insurance which will protect the Directors from any losses. 

 

 

20



 
 

Members Agreement: 

1.26 A draft Members Agreement is attached to this report at Appendix Three.  This is a legally 

binding document which sets out the Council’s requirements of LeisureSK and how the 

company will be managed.   

1.27 The Members Agreement details the information and reports the Council will be entitled to 

receive and also identifies the process of receiving and agreeing the company’s business 

plan.   

1.28 Schedule One of the Members Agreement sets out the Reserved Matters which details a 

list of actions the company must not undertake without having the express consent of the 

Council.  These include preventing the company from varying the Articles of Association, 

undertaking any borrowing, or engaging in any activity other than that agreed within the 

business plan. 

1.29 Due to the size of LeisureSK, and the nature of the business, it is proposed that the Council 

recruits a Non-Executive Director to the Board of LeisureSK.  The successful person will 

have in-depth leisure industry knowledge and will represent the Council’s interests, 

providing independent oversight and constructive challenge to the Board of Directors.  This 

is seen as best practice for local authority companies, as highlighted in the recent public 

interest report into Robin Hood Energy.  

1.30 The Non-Executive Director will not be responsible for the day-to-day management of 

LeisureSK but will provide advice and direction to the Board. 

1.31 It will be necessary to ensure that the Non-Executive Director has significant industry 

knowledge, and appropriate skills and experience.  Therefore, it is proposed that the Council 

undertakes a thorough recruitment process to identify a suitably qualified candidate.  A draft 

recruitment pack has been provided with this report at Appendix Four. 

LeisureSK Five-year Business Plan: 

1.32 The Council has retained the services of Sport and Leisure Consultancy Ltd (SLC) to help 

develop a five-year business plan for LeisureSK.  As the basis for this work SLC has further 

refined the financial model it has previously provided to the Council which was used to 

assess the Covid-19 recovery plans provided by 1Life.  This was then compared against the 

option of transferring the leisure service to a wholly-owned Council company and formed 

the basis of the decision by Cabinet on 18 August 2020. 

1.33 SLC has also used the pre-lockdown trading information previously supplied by 1Life, again 

this was used previously to assess the level of financial support the Council should provide 

as a result of the closure of the leisure facilities due to Covid-19 and the subsequent 

recovery period. 

1.34 The aim of the further work undertaken has been to identify the level of support the Council 

may need to provide to LeisureSK and to set initial performance targets for the company.  A 

copy of the report provided by SLC is attached to this report at Exempt Appendix Five. 

1.35 Whilst developing the business plan it has been necessary to establish the baseline 

performance of the leisure service under normal trading conditions, but then consider how 

this may be impacted by Covid-19 and the Council’s leisure improvement plans. 

1.36 Table One provided as part of the exempt papers demonstrates the baseline performance 

of the leisure centres under normal trading conditions. This has subsequently been used as 

the basis upon which to build the five-year business plan for LeisureSK.   

21



 
 

Please refer to Exempt Appendix Seven 

1.37 This trading information has then been adjusted to account for the operation of the facilities 

under LeisureSK.  The adjustments made include the potential that LeisureSK will achieve 

lower levels of income than a commercial operator.  Staffing costs have been increased to 

include the additional roles that the company will require to account for the loss of head 

office centralised support, including a Leisure Contract Manager and Marketing Officer.  

Purchasing costs, including utilities, have also been increased as LeisureSK will not benefit 

from the economies of scale that larger leisure providers have.  

1.38 Provision has been made within the business plan for the support cost recharges which the 

Council will provide to LeisureSK and receive payment for.  These include finance, ICT, 

asset management and HR.  Costs have also been included for the external support that 

will be required including provision for payroll and pension services and health and safety. 

1.39 The trading information previously provided by the Council’s leisure provider included fees 

and recharges relating to centralised costs and head office recharges.  These have been 

removed from the business plan but costs in relation to reactive maintenance and 

depreciation have been included.  As these costs were not clearly identifiable from the 

information previously provided, appropriate allowances have been made by benchmarking 

leisure facilities of a similar age and size.  These costs are included in the Central Costs line 

together with irrecoverable VAT, insurance, professional fees and licences. 

1.40 Within the business plan it has been assumed that LeisureSK will be eligible to receive 

100% discretionary rate relief as a not for profit company.  Under the current leisure contract 

1Life is eligible for 80% mandatory rate relief and the Council covers the remaining 20%.  

Under this arrangement the Council currently pays £116,000 in business rates, but receives 

£232,000 from the business rate pool, thus benefits from approximately £116,000 of net 

income from business rates (as Central Government pays a grant for the mandatory relief).  

Although the granting of 100% discretionary relief is of benefit to LeisureSK this does 

represent a net loss to the Council, therefore this figure has been included in the business 

plan as a below the line consideration. 

1.41 As the business plan covers a five-year period it has been necessary to assess the impact 

of any possible changes in relation to the Council’s leisure improvement programme on this 

baseline, and in addition consider the impact of Covid-19 and social distancing guidelines.   

1.42 As part of the leisure improvement programme the Council is currently undertaking 

feasibility work on how the leisure centres should be improved.  Although this has not yet 

been concluded, the work undertaken to date has identified how the leisure facilities can be 

improved to cater for unmet demand and to meet modern customer expectations.  To 

support the necessary capital investment required, detailed financial modelling is currently 

taking place to assess the affordability and financial impact of these improvements to the 

leisure facilities across the district.    

1.43 The feasibility work has identified that Deepings Leisure Centre is fast approaching the end 

of its useful life, and therefore the baseline five-year business plan has been amended to 

include indicative figures for a new centre being operational from April 2023.  Without this 

investment there are significant concerns whether Deepings Leisure Centre can remain 

operational past this date.   

1.44 Once the leisure improvement feasibility work and the associated business cases have been 

finalised, the five-year business plan will need to be revisited again to take account of any 

22



 
 

decisions the Council may make in this regard.  This will also need to include the impact of 

any financing arrangements in relation to the capital investment required.    

1.45 Further amendments to the baseline business plan have been made to reflect the likely 

impact of Covid-19.  As a result of the ongoing impact of the pandemic on customer demand 

and financial performance, the Council is currently providing deficit funding to its leisure 

provider on a monthly basis.  As SLC is continuing to support the Council in assessing and 

reconciling the financial support provided, this work has provided a useful insight when 

developing the business plan for LeisureSK.  It has also provided up to date intelligence on 

how the leisure centres are recovering, the levels of customers that have been retained, 

and new customers who have taken up activity. 

1.46 As it is currently envisaged that Covid-19 will continue to have an impact well into 2021, 

Year one of the business plan has been amended to include the potential impact on trading 

figures.  In assessing this impact, the following key assumptions have been used which are 

in line with the current performance of the leisure centres. 

1.47 In line with the Covid-19 recovery plans previously assessed by SLC, income is assumed 

to reach steady state under social distancing guidelines in April 2021 and then begin to 

return to pre-Covid levels from September 2021.  The income figures for 2021 within the 

business plan have therefore been adjusted accordingly to reflect current performance and 

how this may improve into 2021.  The assumptions used include: 

 Grantham – 75% recovery 

 Bourne – 76% recovery 

 Stamford – 67% recovery 

 Deepings – 77% recovery. 

1.48 As the operation of the leisure facilities under social distancing guidelines has resulted in 

lower numbers of users in line with the limited capacity, this in turn has resulted in a reduced 

number of casual staff being employed within the centres.  The revised business plan 

assumes that staffing levels will return to pre-Covid levels from September 2021 and 

therefore the following reductions have also been factored into the business plan for 2021: 

 Grantham – 74% of baseline costs 

 Bourne – 79% of baseline costs 

 Stamford – 75% of baseline costs 

 Deepings – 75% of baseline costs. 

1.49 Premises costs have been adjusted to reflect the additional cleaning requirements and 

materials required to ensure the leisure centres remain Covid-secure. Utility costs have 

been reduced to take account of reduced capacity and throughput levels. 

1.50 Table Two below demonstrates the five-year business plan for LeisureSK including the 

impact of Covid-19 during 2021, and provides for a new leisure centre being operational in 

the Deepings from April 2023.  The business plan will need to be further amended to reflect 

any decisions the Council may make in the future in relation to the proposed leisure 

improvements.  

  

 

23



 
 

Table Two: LeisureSK business plan 2021 – 2025 

 

1.51 Table Two demonstrates that during the five-year period the total amount of support the 

Council will need to provide to LeisureSK by way of a management fee is forecast to be 

£528,871.  However, taking into account the loss to the Council of the income relating to 

business rates, this increases to £1,136,831 over the five-year period.   

1.52 Approximately 40% (£470,000) of this cost results from the projected impact of income 

losses in Year one due to Covid-19. Although it should be remembered that under the 

current leisure contract arrangement the Council is providing significant financial support to 

1Life to cover operational losses. 

1.53 The figures identified within Table Two will allow the Council to set the appropriate budget 

required to support LeisureSK within the Medium Term Financial Plan. A more detailed 

presentation of the figures for years 1 and 2 for LeisureSK are presented as Appendix Six, 

setting out forecast expenditure and income by site and splitting sales by broad category.    

Appointment of Directors: 

1.54 As detailed in the report presented to Companies Committee on the 22 September 2020, 

due to the urgent need to establish the company, LeisureSK was initially set up as a ‘shell’ 

company with a single Director, being Councillor Barry Dobson, the Deputy Leader of the 

Council.   

1.55 As detailed in paragraph 1.29 it is proposed that a Non-Executive Director be recruited to 

complement the Board of Directors of LeisureSK, and that this person will have the 

appropriate skills and knowledge to provide guidance to the Board of Directors. 

1.56 It is proposed that there will be a total of four Directors on the Board and that the following 

be appointed as Directors of LeisureSK: 

 The Leader of the Council 

 The Director of Growth and Culture 

 Non-Executive Director (details to be confirmed). 

24



 
 

Should the recommendations within this report be supported, the Council will begin the 

recruitment process to identify a Non-Executive Director with the suitable level of skills and 

knowledge. 

1.57 At the meeting of Companies Committee on the 22 September 2020 the Committee 

recommended that Council establish a budget allocation to be capped at £500,000 to cover 

the upfront expenses in relation to the formation of the company and requested details of 

any expenditure made be provided to the following meeting of Companies Committee. 

1.58 To date £118,569 of that amount has been committed to provide a dedicated point of sale 

system which will cover payments and bookings on-line and in the leisure facilities.  This 

amount includes the installation of the system, software licences and ongoing support.  The 

early placement of this order will allow for the system to be operational by the 3 January 

2020 and without this there would be no method of collecting payments or taking bookings. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 At a meeting of Cabinet on the 18 August 2020 Cabinet decided to transfer the leisure 

service to a wholly-owned Council company.  This decision was made in consideration of 

the work previously undertaken by SLC which identified the level of financial support the 

Council would be required to provide to 1Life during the Covid-19 recovery period and how 

this compared to the option to transfer the leisure service to a Council owned company. 

2.2 A report was subsequently presented to a meeting of Companies Committee on the 22 

September 2020.  As a result, Companies Committee endorsed the decision to establish 

LeisureSK and recommended to Council that a budget allocation not exceeding £500,000 

be approved to support the formation of the company. 

2.3 A report was presented to a meeting of the Council on the 1 October 2020 and a budget 

allocation not exceeding £500,000 was approved.  Delegated authority was given to the 

Strategic Director of Growth, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer, to approve any 

necessary expenditure. 

2.4 At a meeting of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 

15 September 2020, the Committee received a presentation which detailed the Council’s 

plans to transfer the leisure service to LeisureSK.  The Committee was also consulted on 

the current performance of the leisure centres and how this should be improved under the 

management of LeisureSK.  Valuable information from this discussion has been captured 

and is being used to inform the leisure services specification which will form the basis of the 

contractual relationship between the Council and LeisureSK. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 This report provides an overview of the company structure and a high-level business plan 

for LeisureSK.  The company has been established in the optimum way to ensure it is 

financially efficient and can attract VAT savings and business rate relief.   

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 This report details the significant amount of work which has been undertaken to ensure that 

LeisureSK can be fully established as a company ready to become operational from the 3 

January 2020.  This will help to facilitate a smooth transfer of the leisure service to the new 

arrangement. 

 

25



 
 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 As detailed within the report previously presented to Companies Committee on the 22 

September there was an urgent need to establish the company LeisureSK. 

5.2 This report details the further work that has been undertaken to establish the company with 

the optimum structure in order to benefit from savings in relation to VAT and business rates.  

5.3 As the Articles and Association and Members Agreement are the key documents which will 

govern the Council’s relationship with LeisureSK it is vital that these are robust enough to 

protect the Council’s position but also provide the company with sufficient autonomy to make 

the decisions it will need to make to run the leisure service. 

5.4 The Council will need to set appropriate budgets which account for the level of support that 

LeisureSK will need over the duration of the contract with the Council.  The high-level five-

year business plan provided within this report can be used by the Council as the basis for 

budget setting. 

5.5 The additional Director appointments will ensure that the Board of Directors has the 

appropriate mix of skills and experience necessary to maximise the financial and operational 

performance of LeisureSK.  The proposal to recruit a Non-Executive Director will further 

strengthen the Board of Directors and will ensure that the Council’s best interests are 

represented on the Board.  

5.6 It may be necessary for the Council to provide LeisureSK with some funds in advance of it 

becoming operational to pay for any ongoing costs in relation to the business, for example 

ICT licenses and insurances.  If these payments take the form of a loan, then this can be 

undertaken in line with our existing Treasury Management Strategy. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Should the recommendations within this report be supported, a report will be presented to 

a meeting of the Council on the 26 November 2020 to request that the proposed Director 

appointments are formalised. 

6.2 The Council will commence the recruitment process to appoint a Non-Executive Director 

with specialised in-depth leisure knowledge.  On the successful appointment, a further 

report will be presented to a meeting of the Council at the appropriate time to formalise the 

appointment. 

6.3 The five-year business plan will form the basis of an annual business plan which the 

Directors of the company will need to present to Companies Committee and agree with the 

Council in accordance with the provisions of the Members Agreement. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 In the current environment it is very hard to predict the income and indeed any extra 

expenditure that will be needed to deal with the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic.  Although the 

Council can be comfortable with the overall approach utilised in developing costs estimates 

(using the previous suppliers base and adjusting by industry specialists benchmarking 

across over 15 other local authority areas); it is difficult to predict the short and long-term 

impact it will have on costs and demands for leisure services.  Additionally, the impact of 

increased restrictions, such as a prolonged second lockdown have not been factored into 

this analysis. 

26



 
 

7.2 Therefore, as part of the review of the underlying financial model, various sensitivities have 

been undertaken.  These are split between changes on assumptions due to Covid-19 which 

have one-off impacts in year one (Table Three) and changes to underlying assumptions 

which have an ongoing basis (Table Four) – some of these are dampened in year one due 

to the impact of Covid-19 on demand and staffing overall: 

Table Three 

Change to assumption Impact Year One 
only (£000’s) 

Increase in recovery assumptions by 5% (see paras 1.47 & 1.48) 89k 

Decrease in recovery assumptions by 5% (see paras 1.47 & 1.48) (167k) 

 

Table Four 

Change to assumption Year one impact 
(£000’s) 

Annual impact year two 
onwards (£000’s) 

5% Increase in all activities (income) 130 180 

5% Decrease in all activities (income) (130) 180 

5% Increase in gym membership 54 73 

5% Decrease in gym membership (54) (73) 

5% Increase in swimming income 69 94 

5% Decrease in swimming income (69) (94) 

5% Increase in staff costs (65) 87 

5% Decrease in staff costs 65 (87) 

 

7.3 An assumption has been made that 100% discretionary business rates relief will be granted 

to LeisureSK. This will be subject to a separate assessment process in line with the 

Council’s discretionary business rates policy. If this is not the case, then LeisureSK will incur 

an additional £581k in estimated business rates per year, which will have to be incorporated 

into the management fee paid by South Kesteven District Council. 

7.4 The above analysis shows that the overall level of funding required to make LeisureSK 

viable is highly sensitive to changes in demand, particularly swimming income (which makes 

up the highest proportion of income).  Usage measures should therefore form part of the 

key indicators used to measure performance on an ongoing basis.   

7.5 It is important to note that the management fee is an entirely new budget cost to the Authority 

and, particularly for year 1 of the trading projection, is a significant cost.  This is against a 

backdrop of reduced income levels for the Council and other competing financial pressures.  

Therefore it is important to ensure that the fee is affordable and delivers value for money 

over the short to medium term. The 5-year projection shows a positive return and any 

improved trading activities will allow the Council to reduce the fee accordingly.  The approval 

of the fee will be subject to Council decision as it will be a change to the budget framework. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Committee will need to satisfy itself that the governance arrangements between the 

Company and Council are sufficiently clear and appropriate;  the member reserved matters 

within the Members agreement set out the control that is reserved to the Council and should 

provide the Committee with sufficient comfort. The Council as owner will be able to oversee 

and scrutinise performance through the Companies Committee, in the same way that 

Companies Committee does for all other Council-owned companies. Given the challenges 

27



 
 

for the Company, it may be that companies Committee requests an update on company 

activity at every meeting in the first year of the Company’s operation. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 Appropriate policies and procedures are being developed and will be adopted by the 

company in advance of the transfer of the leisure service. These policies include an 

appropriate Equality and Diversity Policy and a Safeguarding Policy. 

9.2 LeisureSK will need to ensure that these policies and fully adopted and that both the staff 

who are employed in the leisure facilities and the customers who use them are not 

disadvantaged or adversely affected. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The risks associated with the formation of LeisureSK and the transfer of the leisure service 

have been identified as part of a project risk register together with mitigating actions. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None arising from this report. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The Council’s leisure facilities currently account for 41.5% of the Council’s carbon 

emissions. Taking direct control of the leisure facilities under a wholly-owned Council 

company provides the opportunity to assess carbon efficiency measures, particularly as part 

of the planned improvements to the leisure facilities. 

13 Background Papers 

13.1 Exempt Report to Cabinet 18 August 2020 

13.2 SKDC Mandatory and Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 

14 Appendices 

14.1 Appendix One – Draft Resourcing Agreement 

14.2 Appendix Two – Draft Articles of Association 

14.3 Appendix Three – Members Agreement 

14.4 Appendix Four – Non-Executive Director Recruitment Pack 

14.5 Appendix Five – Exempt SLC LeisureSK Business Plan Report – not for publication 

14.6 Appendix Six – Income and Expenditure Forecast Years One and Two 

14.7 Appendix Seven – Exempt – not for publication  

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not applicable 

Previously Considered by: Companies 
Committee 

22 September 2020 

Final Decision date   21 October 2020 

 

28



  
 

 

35437085.1© Bevan Brittan LLP 
 
Toronto Square - 7th Floor | Toronto Street | Leeds LS1 2HJ 
T 0370 194 1000 F 0370 194 5465 
 
Fleet Place House | 2 Fleet Place | Holborn Viaduct | London EC4M 7RF 
T 0370 194 1000 F 0370 194 7800 
 
Kings Orchard | 1 Queen Street | Bristol BS2 0HQ 
T 0370 194 1000 F 0370 194 1001 
 
Interchange Place | Edmund Street | Birmingham B3 2TA 
T 0370 194 1000 F 0370 194 5001 
 
www.bevanbrittan.com 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Dated 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

LEISURESK LIMITED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CONTRACT  

for the provision of resourcing and support services  
to LeisureSK Limited 

 

 

29

Appendix 1



 

35437085.1 

 

Contents 

Item Page 

 
PARTIES ........................................................................................................................................................... 1 

BACKGROUND ................................................................................................................................................ 1 

AGREED TERMS .............................................................................................................................................. 1 

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION ................................................................................................ 1 

2 CONTRACT PERIOD.............................................................................................................................. 4 

3 AGREED RESOURCES ......................................................................................................................... 4 

4 SUPPORT SERVICES ............................................................................................................................ 5 

5 COUNCIL'S OBLIGATIONS ................................................................................................................... 5 

6 CONTRACT PRICE AND PAYMENT ..................................................................................................... 5 

7 EXCLUSIVITY AND FUTURE RESOURCING ....................................................................................... 6 

8 EQUIPMENT, MATERIALS AND CONSUMABLES .............................................................................. 6 

9 LICENCE FOR COUNCIL EQUIPMENT AND CONTRACTS ............................................................... 6 

10 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY ................................................................................................................ 6 

11 USE OF PREMISES................................................................................................................................ 7 

12 REPRESENTATIVES.............................................................................................................................. 7 

13 RECORDS AND MONITORING ............................................................................................................. 7 

14 DATA PROTECTION .............................................................................................................................. 8 

15 COMPLAINTS ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

16 HEALTH AND SAFETY .......................................................................................................................... 8 

17 BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION .............................................................................................................. 9 

18 CONFIDENTIALITY .............................................................................................................................. 10 

19 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ............................................................................................................ 10 

20 INSURANCE ......................................................................................................................................... 11 

21 DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE .............................................................................................. 11 

22 LIABILITY AND INDEMNITY ................................................................................................................ 12 

23 TERMINATION ...................................................................................................................................... 13 

24 FORCE MAJEURE ............................................................................................................................... 13 

25 FURTHER ASSURANCE ..................................................................................................................... 14 

26 ASSIGNMENT AND SUB-CONTRACTING ......................................................................................... 14 

27 WAIVERS AND CONSENTS ................................................................................................................ 14 

28 RIGHTS AND REMEDIES .................................................................................................................... 14 

29 SEVERANCE ........................................................................................................................................ 14 

30 COUNTERPARTS................................................................................................................................. 15 

31 THIRD PARTY RIGHTS ........................................................................................................................ 15 

32 NOTICES ............................................................................................................................................... 15 

33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT ......................................................................................................................... 16 

34 VARIATION ........................................................................................................................................... 16 

35 COSTS AND EXPENSES ..................................................................................................................... 16 

30



 

35437085.1 

36 SET-OFF ............................................................................................................................................... 16 

37 NO PARTNERSHIP OR AGENCY ....................................................................................................... 16 

38 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION ............................................................................................ 16 

SCHEDULE 1 - CONTRACT PRICE .............................................................................................................. 19 

Part 1 – Calculation of the Contract Price .............................................................................................. 19 

Part 2 – Payment of the Contract Price .................................................................................................. 19 

SCHEDULE 2 - LICENCE TO USE COUNCIL PREMISES ........................................................................... 20 

Part 1 - Licence ......................................................................................................................................... 20 

Part 2 – Notice ........................................................................................................................................... 23 

SCHEDULE 3 - RESOURCE REQUEST FORM[S] ....................................................................................... 24 

  

 

31



 

1 
35437085.1 

RESOURCING CONTRACT dated     2020 
 
PARTIES 

(1) SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL of Council Offices, St. Peter’s Hill, Grantham NG31 6PZ 
(the Council). 

(2) LEISURESK LIMITED (company no 12888724) whose registered office is at Council Offices, St. 
Peter's Hill, Grantham NG31 6PZ (the Company). 

BACKGROUND 

(A) The Council has the necessary skill, knowledge and experience to provide the Agreed Resources 
and perform the Support Services.  

(B) In reliance upon that skill, knowledge and experience, the Company wishes the Council to provide 
from time to time the Agreed Resources and perform the Support Services, and the Council agrees 
to provide and perform them on the following terms.  

AGREED TERMS 

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 In this Contract:  

 Agreed Purposes means the business activity/ies of the Company as set out in its Business Plan 
and the Company’s objects 

 Agreed Resources has the meaning given in clause 3.5  

 Authorised Officer means the person nominated by the Council in accordance with clause 12 

 Available Resources means the resources and services of the Council which could be supplied to 
the Company in accordance with this Contract, including: 

(a) Council Equipment; 

(b) the Council's Intellectual Property; 

(c) any Property; and 

(d) the Support Services 

 Business has the meaning given in the Member's Agreement 

 Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which the banks in the City of 
London are open for business 

 CEDR means the Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution 

 Commencement Date means the date of this Contract 

 Company Equipment means the equipment (if any) to be provided by the Company as listed in a 
Request Form 

 Confidential Information means, in relation to a person, all technical, commercial, financial or other 
information of whatever nature relating to that person's business, products, developments, services, 
trade secrets, know-how, personnel, supplies or historic current or potential customers, whether or 

32



 

2 
35437085.1 

not designated as confidential and whether disclosed orally, pictorially, in writing, by demonstration, 
by viewing, in machine readable form or by any other means  

 Contract Manager means the person nominated by the Council  in accordance with clause 12 

 Contract Period means the Initial Contract Period and any Extended Contract Period 

 Contract Price means the sum payable by the Company to the Council for the provision of the 
Agreed Resources and the performance of the Support Services as set out in a Request Form 

 Council Contracts means contracts entered into between the Council and third parties for the 
provision of any services, goods, software or hardware of any nature whatsoever 

 Council Equipment means all physical assets, equipment and software owned or licensed by the 
Council  

 Council's Intellectual Property means Intellectual Property owned by the Council 

 Council Representative has the meaning given in the Member's Agreement  

 Data Protection Legislation means the Data Protection Act 1998, the EU Data Protection Directive 
95/46/EC, the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, the Telecommunications (Lawful 
Business Practice) (Interception of Communications) Regulations 2000 (SI 2000/2699), the 
Electronic Communications Data Protection Directive 2002/58/EC, the Privacy and Electronic 
Communications (EC Directive) Regulations 2003 and all applicable laws and regulations relating to 
processing of personal data and privacy, including where applicable the guidance and codes of 
practice issued by the Information Commissioner 

 Director means a director (or equivalent) of the Company, by whatever name called   

 Dispute Resolution Procedure means the procedure set out in clause 21 

 EIR means the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and any subordinate legislation made 
under the Regulations from time to time, together with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued 
by the Information Commissioner or relevant government department in relation to such legislation  

 Extended Contract Period has the meaning set out at clause 2.2 

 FOIA means the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and any subordinate legislation made under the 
Act from time to time, together with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued by the Information 
Commissioner or relevant government department in relation to such legislation  

 Force Majeure Event means any event or occurrence which is outside the reasonable control of the 
Party concerned (and which is not attributable to any act or omission by the Party concerned 
including failure to take preventative action).  This definition does not include any industrial action 
occurring amongst the Staff or any staff of any sub-contractor 

 Good Industry Practice means the exercise of that degree of skill, diligence and foresight which 
would reasonably and ordinarily be expected from a skilled and experienced service provider 
engaged in the provision of services similar to the Support Services under the same or similar 
circumstances as those applicable to the Contract and which are in accordance with any codes of 
practice published by relevant trade associations 

 Initial Contract Period has the meaning given in clause 2.1 

 Intellectual Property means present and future patents, trade marks, service marks, trade names, 
designs, copyrights, inventions, topographical or similar rights, confidential information and know-
how and any interest in any of these rights, whether or not registered, including all applications and 

33



 

3 
35437085.1 

rights to apply for registration and all fees, royalties and other rights derived from, or incidental to, 
these rights; 

Law means: 

(a) any Act of Parliament; 

(b) any subordinate legislation within the meaning of section 21(1) of the Interpretation Act 1978; 

(c) any exercise of the Royal Prerogative; and 

(d) any enforceable community right within the meaning of section 2 of the European 
Communities Act 1972 

 in each case in force in the United Kingdom 

 Materials means any and all works of authorship, materials, deliverables and/or processes 
developed, written, delivered or prepared by the Council on whatever media for the purposes of (or 
as a result of) providing the Agreed Resources and performing the Support Services including, 
without limitation, any and all reports, studies, data, databases, diagrams, charts, specifications and 
software 

 Member's Agreement means the agreement of that name entered into between the Parties on or 
around the date of this Contract 

 Month means a calendar month 

 Property has the meaning given in Schedule 2 provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, the 
premises at which the Business is primarily undertaken shall not be a Property (and the occupation 
of those premises shall be governed by a separate agreement entered into between the Council and 
the Company) 

 Request Form means a form specifying the Available Resources which the Company is requesting 
the Council to provide to the Company in such form as the Council and the Company may agree 
from time to time 

 Replacement Provider means each and every service provider who shall provide any service 
similar to any of the Agreed Resources and Support Services immediately after expiry or earlier 
termination of this Contract  

 Staff means all personnel employed or engaged by or through the Council in the provision of the 
Agreed Resources and performance of the Support Services or in connection with this Contract, 
whether such personnel are partners, directors, officers, subcontractors, agency staff or other 
persons in any manner employed or engaged by the Council or are employed on their own account 
as independent contractors to the Council 

 Support Services means the support services agreed between the Council and the Company in 
accordance with clause 4.1, provided by the Council pursuant to and in accordance with this 
Contract  

 Working Hours means 9.00 a.m. to 5.00 p.m. on a Business Day 

1.2 A reference to a statutory provision includes a reference to: 

1.2.1 a statutory amendment, consolidation or re-enactment (whether before or after the date 
of this Contract); 

34



 

4 
35437085.1 

1.2.2 statutory instruments or subordinate legislation (as defined in section 21(1) of the 
Interpretation Act 1978) or orders made under the statutory provision (whether made 
before or after the date of this Contract); and 

1.2.3 statutory provisions of which the statutory provision is an amendment, consolidation or re-
enactment. 

1.3 Reference to: 

1.3.1 a person includes a legal or natural person, partnership, trust, company, government or 
local authority department or other body (whether corporate or unincorporate); 

1.3.2 a statutory or regulatory body shall include its successors and any substituted body; 

1.3.3 an individual includes, where appropriate, his personal representatives; 

1.3.4 the singular includes the plural and vice versa; and 

1.3.5 one gender includes all genders. 

1.4 Unless otherwise stated, a reference to a clause or Schedule is a reference to a clause of or 
schedule to this Contract and a reference to this Contract includes its Schedules. 

1.5 Clause headings in this Contract are for ease of reference only and do not affect its construction. 

1.6 In construing this Contract the so-called ejusdem generis rule does not apply and accordingly the 
interpretation of general words shall not be restricted by words indicating a particular class or 
particular examples. 

1.7 For the purposes of this Contract Party means a party to this Contract and reference to Parties shall 
be to all or more than one of them as applicable. 

2 CONTRACT PERIOD  

2.1 This Contract shall commence on the Commencement Date and shall continue, unless terminated 
earlier in accordance with clause 23, for two years (Initial Contract Period).   

2.2 The term of the Contract shall automatically extend for a further year (Extended Contract Period) at 
the end of the Initial Contract Period and at the end of each Extended Contract Period, unless either 
the Council or the Company gives written notice to the other before the end of the Initial Contract 
Period or the relevant Extended Contract Period, to terminate this Contract at the end of the Initial 
Contract Period or the relevant Extended Contract Period, as the case may be.   

3 AGREED RESOURCES 

3.1 The Council shall only be obliged to supply Agreed Resources subject to the terms of this Contract.        

3.2 If the Company requires additional resources and/or support services from the Council, it shall give 
to the Council a completed and signed Request Form. 

3.3 The Council shall within five Business Days of receiving a Request Form respond to the request 
with: 

3.3.1 a signed version of the Request Form to confirm the Council's acceptance of the request 
subject to agreement of the terms of provision; or  

3.3.2 confirmation of the Council’s willingness and ability to provide the requested resources in 
principle, but subject to the amendment of the timeframe as set out in clause 3.4; or  

35



 

5 
35437085.1 

3.3.3 confirmation of the Council's willingness and ability to provide the requested resources in 
principle, but subject to particular requests or questions specified; or 

3.3.4 confirmation that the Council is not willing or shall not be able to meet the requirements of 
the Request Form. 

3.4 Subject to any amended timeframe notified under clause 3.3.2, the Council and the Company shall 
work together in good faith to seek to reach agreement on any Request Form in a prompt and timely 
manner and within no less than five Business Days of the Council's receipt of the Request Form 
provided always that the Council shall not be obliged to meet the requirements of any given Request 
Form.  

3.5 The terms and detail of a Request Form agreed in accordance with clause 3.4 shall be incorporated 
into this Contract upon the Company and the Council signing the Request Form, at which point the 
additional resources and/or services specified in the Request Form shall be Agreed Resources for 
the purposes of this Contract.  

3.6 All Agreed Resources shall be provided and used only for the Agreed Purposes. 

4 SUPPORT SERVICES 

4.1 The Council agrees to provide the Support Services to the Company in accordance with: 

4.1.1 the terms of this Contract; 

4.1.2 all applicable Law; and 

4.1.3 Good Industry Practice. 

5 COUNCIL'S OBLIGATIONS 

5.1 Without prejudice to clause 4.1, the Council shall use its reasonable endeavours to comply with all 
reasonable instructions and directions of the Company relating to the provision of the Agreed 
Resources and the performance of the Support Services.  

5.2 The Council shall inform the Company as soon as reasonably practicable of any actual or potential 
problems concerning the provision of the Agreed Resources and/or the performance of the Support 
Services, and any instances which may prevent the Council from meeting its contractual obligations.  
If at any time the Council becomes aware of any act or omission or proposed act or omission by the 
Company which may prevent or hinder the Council from providing the Agreed Resources and/or 
performing the Support Services in accordance with the terms of this Contract, the Authorised Officer 
shall forthwith inform the Contract Manager of that fact.  For the avoidance of doubt, the provision of 
such information under this clause shall not in any way release or excuse the Council from any of its 
obligations under this Contract.    

5.3 The Council shall be responsible for providing the Agreed Resources and performing the Support 
Services, and shall use its reasonable endeavours to ensure continuity of service and resource 
provision in accordance with the relevant Request Form(s).  

5.4 Save as otherwise expressly provided, the obligations of the Council under the Contract are 
obligations of the Council in its capacity as a contracting counterparty, and nothing in the Contract 
shall operate as an obligation upon, or in any other way fetter or constrain, the Council in any other 
capacity, nor shall the exercise by the Council of its duties and powers in any other capacity lead to 
any liability under this Contract (howsoever arising) on the part of the Council to the Company. 

6 CONTRACT PRICE AND PAYMENT 

6.1 The Contract Price shall be calculated, and the Company shall pay the Contract Price to the Council, 
in accordance with all relevant Request Forms.  

36



 

6 
35437085.1 

7 EXCLUSIVITY AND FUTURE RESOURCING  

7.1 If the Company requires any resources or support services comprised in or related to the Agreed 
Resources and Support Services, it shall endeavour to seek and obtain them from the Council 
pursuant to this Contract on such terms as the Company may agree with the Council.  If the Council 
is unable or unwilling to provide such resources or support services, then the Company may seek 
third party provision of such resources or support services.   

7.2 The Company shall co-operate with the Council or any other subsidiaries of the Council from time to 
time to find ways of ensuring Council-supplied or procured services and resources are provided on 
the most efficient group-wide basis as far as reasonably practicable.  For example, the Company will 
consider the potential efficiencies obtainable by using any accounting software packages, IT 
equipment, telephones, utilities and performance reporting software used or proposed to be used by 
the Council any other such subsidiaries.     

8 EQUIPMENT, MATERIALS AND CONSUMABLES 

8.1 Except where a Request Form provides otherwise, the Council shall be responsible for the provision 
of all equipment, plant and other items as are necessary for the proper and satisfactory provision of 
the Agreed Resources and the performance of the Support Services.  Such equipment, plant and 
other items shall be kept in good working order and repair.  

8.2 Where, in accordance with the a Request Form, the Company is required to make equipment 
available to the Council and the Staff for use in the provision of the Agreed Resources and the 
performance of the Support Services (Company Equipment), the Company shall, subject to clause 
8.3 and 8.4, ensure it is kept in good working order and repair, and is replaced if necessary.   

8.3 When using the Company Equipment, the Council shall ensure the Staff undertake appropriate 
training and/or induction briefings, and comply with the manufacturer's instructions and any 
reasonable instructions from the Company. 

8.4 The Council shall immediately report any missing or malfunctioning Company Equipment to the 
Contract Manager.  The Company reserves the right to recover the costs of replacement or repair of 
any Equipment from the Council if such items were lost or damaged by the Council or the Staff.   

9 LICENCE FOR COUNCIL EQUIPMENT AND CONTRACTS 

9.1 The Council hereby grants a revocable, non-exclusive, non-transferable, royalty free licence to the 
Company to use the Council Equipment for the purposes of carrying out the Agreed Purposes.  The 
licence shall automatically terminate on termination of this Contract.  

9.2 The Council hereby grants a revocable, non-exclusive, non-transferable, royalty free licence to the 
Company to use the benefit of the Council Contracts for the purposes of delivering the Agreed 
Purposes. The licence shall automatically terminate on termination of this Contract.   

10 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

10.1 The Council hereby grants to the Company a revocable, non-exclusive, non-transferable, royalty free 
licence to use the Council's Intellectual Property for the Agreed Purposes only. The licence shall 
automatically terminate on termination of this Contract.   

10.2 The Company shall not sub-licence any part of the Council's Intellectual Property without the prior 
written approval of the Council Representative.  

10.3 Any new Intellectual Property or Materials created by either Party which directly relates to the 
performance of their obligations under this Contract shall vest absolutely and with full title guarantee 
with the Company (Company Intellectual Property). 

37



 

7 
35437085.1 

10.4 The Company hereby grants to the Council a non-exclusive, irrevocable, non-transferable, royalty 
free licence to use the Company Intellectual Property. The licence shall automatically terminate on 
termination of this Contract.  

10.5 The Council warrants that:  

10.5.1 the Council has the right to use all Intellectual Property or Materials required for the 
provision of the Agreed Resources and the delivery of the Support Services in the 
manner contemplated in this Contract; and  

10.5.2 where the Company uses, in connection with the Agreed Resources and Support 
Services, any Intellectual Property or Materials owned by a third party, the Council has 
the power to licence such Intellectual Property or Materials to the Company for use in 
such a manner. 

11 USE OF PREMISES 

11.1 The Council may grant a licence of any Property to the Company in accordance with Schedule 2.   

12 REPRESENTATIVES 

Contract Manager 
 
12.1 The Company shall nominate an employee or officer from time to time to be the Contract Manager, 

who shall be a suitably qualified and authorised representative of the Company (such nomination to 
be notified to the Council in writing without delay).  The Contract Manager shall be empowered to act 
on behalf of the Company under this Contract and shall be the person who authorises and sends 
any Request Form.   

12.2 Any formal notice, information or communication given or made by or to the Contract Manager shall 
be deemed to have been given or made by or to the Company.  

Authorised Officer 
 

12.3 The Council shall nominate a person to be the Council's Authorised Officer (such nomination to be 
notified to the Company in writing without delay) and the Council's Authorised Officer shall be 
empowered to act on behalf of the Council under this Contract and shall be the person to who any 
Request Form is sent.   

12.4 Any formal notice, information or communication given or made by or to the Authorised Officer shall 
be deemed to have been given or made by or to the Council. 

Meetings 
 

12.5 The Authorised Officer and the Contract Manager shall, upon request by either Party, meet at least 
once a quarter at specific times and places to be agreed between themselves.  At such meetings 
they shall fully review the standard of the provision of the Agreed Resources and the performance of 
the Support Services, the outcome of any monitoring of the Agreed Resources provision and the 
Support Services performance and any suggested improvements, variations, extensions or 
reductions to them, the performance of the respective duties and obligations of the Parties under this 
Contract and the performance of this Contract generally and shall agree any actions required by the 
Parties to resolve any issues raised at such meetings. Any disputes that occur between the 
Authorised Officer and Contract Manager shall be dealt with in accordance with clause 21. 

13 RECORDS AND MONITORING 

13.1 The Council shall keep records of:  

13.1.1 any Request Forms received;  

38



 

8 
35437085.1 

13.1.2 the quantity and value of the Agreed Resources provided to the Company; 

13.1.3 the quantity and value of the Support Services received by the Company; 

13.1.4 any incidents and accidents, in accordance with clause 16.5; and 

13.1.5 any complaints made to the Council in accordance with clause 15 

(the Records), and the Council shall provide copies of, or access to, such Records on receiving 
reasonable notice from the Company.   
 

13.2 All Records shall be retained by the Council for at least twelve months following termination or expiry 
of this Contract.  

13.3 The Contract Manager (or any person authorised by the Contract Manager acting reasonably) may, 
acting reasonably at any reasonable time inspect, measure, monitor or test: 

13.3.1 the Agreed Resources and the Support Services or any part of them; or 

13.3.2 any materials, goods or equipment provided by the Council and used in the provision of 
the Agreed Resources and the performance of the Support Services or otherwise 
provided pursuant to this Contract,  

and the Council shall ensure that reasonable time and opportunity is allowed for such inspection, 
measurement, monitoring and testing. 

14 DATA PROTECTION 

Each Party shall (and shall procure that any of its staff involved in the provision of the Contract) 
comply with any notification requirements under the Data Protection Legislation, and both Parties 
shall duly observe all their obligations under the Data Protection Legislation, which arise in 
connection with the Contract. 

15 COMPLAINTS 

15.1 Any serious complaints received by the Council in relation to the provision of the Agreed Resources 
and the performance of the Support Services shall be notified to the Company as soon as 
reasonably practicable but in any event within five Business Days of the event giving rise to the right 
to make such a complaint.  

15.2 The Council and the Staff shall co-operate fully with the Company in investigating and resolving 
complaints made (including the provision of statements by the Staff where required) and shall 
reasonably endeavour to improve the provision of the Agreed Resources and the performance of the 
Support Services in the light of valid complaints received and to minimise complaints so far as 
possible. 

16 HEALTH AND SAFETY 

16.1 The Company must comply with the requirements of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
insofar as they apply to the provision of the Agreed Resources and the performance of the Support 
Services.  

16.2 For as long as this Contract is in force, the Company must have in place a health and safety policy 
which complies with all statutory requirements. 

16.3 The Company must provide the Council with a copy of any such policy at the Council's reasonable 
request. 

39



 

9 
35437085.1 

16.4 Failure by the Company to comply with its obligations under this clause 16 may be regarded as a 
fundamental breach of this Contract. 

16.5 A record of all incidents and accidents arising out of or in the course of the provision of the Agreed 
Resources and the performance of the Support Services shall be kept by the Council detailing: 

16.5.1 the member of Staff or other person notifying the incident or accident; 

16.5.2 the name and address (if known) of each and every person involved in the incident or 
accident; 

16.5.3 the nature and extent of the incident or accident including details of any personal injury or 
death suffered; and 

16.5.4 the date and time of the incident or accident.  

16.6 The Council shall use its reasonable endeavours ensure that all Staff report to it all such incidents or 
accidents. 

16.7 The record of incidents and accidents shall be treated as confidential between the Parties.  No copy, 
extract or summary of the record or any part of it, nor any comment on it, shall be supplied to any 
third party (other than compliance with any legal requirements or for the purposes of obtaining legal 
advice) without the prior written approval of the relevant Party.  

17 BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION 

17.1 The Council may terminate this Contract and recover all its loss if the Company, its employees, or 
anyone acting on the Company’s behalf, does any of the following things: 

17.1.1 directly or indirectly offers, promises or gives any person working for or engaged by the 
Council a financial or other advantage to: 

(a) induce that person to perform improperly a relevant function or activity;  

(b) reward that person for improper performance of a relevant function or activity; 

(c) directly or indirectly request, agree to receive or accept any financial or other 
advantage as an inducement or a reward for improper performance of a relevant 
function or activity in connection with this Contract; 

17.1.2 commits any offence: 

(a) under the Bribery Act 2010; 

(b) under legislation creating offences concerning any fraudulent acts; 

(c) at common law concerning fraudulent acts relating to this Contract or any other 
contract between the Parties; or 

(d) to defraud, attempt to defraud, or conspire to defraud, the Council. 

17.2 Any clause in this Contract which purports to limit the Company’s liability shall not apply to this 
clause. 

17.3 Neither Party shall offer or give or agree to give any representative of the other Party any gift or 
consideration of any kind as an inducement or reward for doing or refraining from doing any act in 
relation to this or any other contract or for showing favour or disfavour to any person in relation to 
this Contract.  

40



 

10 
35437085.1 

18 CONFIDENTIALITY 

18.1 Each Party undertakes that they shall not at any time hereafter use or disclose (in each case except 
for the purpose of exercising its rights and fulfilling its obligations under this Contract) to any person 
any Confidential Information of the other Party which may have or may in future come to its 
knowledge or possession, provided that any Party may share such information: 

18.1.1 with its professional advisers or to those of its directors, members, officers, employees, 
advisers and representatives who are directly concerned with the relevant Party or its 
business;  

18.1.2 as may be required by any applicable law or by any supervisory or regulatory body with 
whose rules it is necessary for that Party to comply; 

18.1.3 in connection with any proceedings arising out of or in connection with this Contract; or  

18.1.4 once it enters the public domain otherwise than by reason of a breach of this clause 18.1. 

18.2 The Parties shall use their reasonable endeavours to prevent the use or disclosure of any such 
Confidential Information otherwise than in accordance with this clause 18.  

18.3 The Parties shall use their reasonable endeavours to procure that any of their officers, employees, 
advisers and representatives coming into receipt of such Confidential Information shall be informed 
upon receipt that such information is confidential and (so far as such Party is able to procure the 
same) shall comply with the provisions of this clause 18.3 in respect of such Confidential Information 
as if they were Parties.  

19 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION  

19.1 The Parties acknowledge that the Parties are subject to the requirements of the FOIA and the EIR 
and the Parties shall, where reasonable, assist and co-operate (at their own expense) with the other 
for information to enable the other (where required) to comply with their information disclosure 
obligations.     

19.2 If either Party (the Recipient) receives a Request for Information in relation to Information that the 
other Party is holding and which the Recipient does not hold itself, the Recipient shall within 6 
Business Days of receiving a Request for Information: 

19.2.1 respond to the Request for Information explaining that that the other Party shall be 
responding within the required timeframe; and 

19.2.2 refer the Request for Information to the other Party explaining that the other Party is 
holding the relevant Information and that the Request for Information must be met by the 
other Party within the required timeframe. 

19.3 The Recipient shall provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the other Party to 
enable the other Party to respond to the Request for Information within the time for compliance set 
out in Section 10 of the FOIA or Regulation 5 of the EIR. 

19.4 The Parties acknowledge that (notwithstanding the provisions of clause 18) a Recipient may, acting 
in accordance with the Code of Practice on the Discharge of Public Authorities' Functions under part 
I of the Freedom of Information Act 2000, be obliged under the FOIA or the EIR to disclose 
Information concerning the other Party: 

19.4.1 in certain circumstances without consulting with the other Party; or 

19.4.2 following consultation with the other Party and having taken their views into account. The 
Recipient shall have absolute discretion as to whether Information is exempt from 

41



 

11 
35437085.1 

disclosure under the FOIA and the Environmental Information Regulations and whether 
Information is to be disclosed in response to a Request for Information. 

19.5 Each Party shall transfer to the other Party any Request for Information which it receives but is 
addressed to the other Party as soon as practicable and in any event within 6 Business Days of 
receiving it. 

19.6 The Parties acknowledge that any lists provided which itemise or outline Confidential Information are 
of indicative value only and that a Recipient may nevertheless be obliged to disclose confidential 
information in accordance with this clause 19. 

20 INSURANCE 

20.1 The Council shall arrange for the activities of the Company relating to this Contract to be covered by 
its insurance policies.   

20.2 The cost to the Council of providing insurance cover to the Company shall be set off against sums 
due from the Council pursuant to the Contract Price.  

20.3 The Council shall procure that nothing is done which would entitle any insurer to cancel, rescind or 
suspend any insurance cover, or to treat any insurance cover or claim as avoided in whole or part, 
and shall forthwith notify the Company on becoming aware of any fact, circumstance or matter which 
has caused, or is reasonably likely to cause, any insurer to give notice to cancel, rescind, suspend or 
avoid any insurance, or any cover or claim under any insurance in whole or in part.  

20.4 The Council shall at such time(s) as the Contract Manager may reasonably require provide the 
Company with sight of all insurance documentation (including policies, cover notes, premium 
receipts and any other documents. 

21 DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE 

21.1 In the event of any disagreement or dispute arising between the Parties in connection with this 
Contract (a Dispute), the Parties shall use all reasonable endeavours to resolve the matter on an 
amicable basis. If one Party serves formal written notice on one or more of the others that a Dispute 
has arisen and the Parties are unable to resolve the Dispute within a period of 20 Business Days 
from the service of such notice, then the Dispute shall be referred to the respective Chief Executives 
or Managing Directors (as the case may be) of each of the Parties who shall attempt to resolve the 
Dispute within the next following 20 Business Days. No recourse to arbitration or litigation by any 
Party against any other under this Contract shall take place unless and until such procedure has 
been followed. 

21.2 If the Chief Executives or Managing Directors (as the case may be) of the Parties are unable to 
resolve a Dispute within two months of such Dispute being referred to them (Initial Consideration 
Date), then a Deadlock shall be deemed to have arisen on the date either two months after the 
Initial Consideration Date or the date on which the Parties agree that Deadlock has arisen, if earlier 
(the Deadlock Date). Any Deadlock shall be dealt with in accordance with clause 21.3. 

21.3 In the event that a Deadlock has arisen, then either Party shall be entitled to serve a notice in writing 
on the other Party referring the Deadlock to mediation (Mediation Referral Notice) in accordance 
with clause 21.4. 

21.4 On the service of a Mediation Referral Notice, the Parties shall jointly appoint a mediator to mediate 
the Deadlock, the cost of which shall be borne equally between the Parties.  

21.5 If:  

21.5.1 the Parties do not agree on the appointment of a mediator within 15 Business Days of 
service of the Mediation Referral Notice (the first day of that 15 Business Day period 
being the first Business Day after the service of the Mediation Referral Notice); or  

42



 

12 
35437085.1 

21.5.2 the person appointed or to be appointed is unable or unwilling to act,  

the mediator shall be appointed by the Chief Executive for the time being of CEDR following a 
request made by any Party to the Chief Executive for that purpose.   

21.6 The mediation shall be conducted in London in the English language in accordance with the then 
current CEDR Model Mediation Procedure, which is deemed to be incorporated in this Contract.    

21.7 If an agreement is reached on the Deadlock during the mediation, that agreement shall be reduced 
to writing and, once signed by the Parties, shall be binding on all Parties.   

21.8 Unless concluded with a written legally binding agreement, the mediation shall be concluded in 
confidence and without prejudice to the rights of any of the Parties in any further proceedings.  

21.9 If the Deadlock cannot be resolved following mediation, the Parties shall be entitled to commence 
arbitration or litigation proceedings to settle the Dispute.  

22 LIABILITY AND INDEMNITY 

22.1 Subject to clauses 22.2 and clause 22.3, the Council shall be liable for and shall indemnify the 
Company, its officers, employees and agents against any liability, losses, costs, expenses, claims or 
proceedings whatsoever arising in respect of: 

22.1.1 any loss of or damage to property (whether real or personal); 

22.1.2 any injury to any person, including injury resulting in death; and 

22.1.3 any other loss incurred by the Company, 

to the extent such loss, damage or injury arises directly from any act or omission of the Council, its 
employees, agents or sub-providers (including the Staff). 
 

22.2 The Council shall not be liable to indemnify the Company as set out in clause 22.1 to the extent that 
the Company’s losses are due to any negligence, default or breach of statutory duty on the 
Company's part.  

22.3 The Council's liability for any claims brought under this Contract shall be limited to the Contract Price 
payable by the Company to the Council in the year in which any liability arises against the Council.  

22.4 Without prejudice to any other provision of this Contract, the Council shall fully indemnify the 
Company against any claims made against it as a result of any failure by the Council to comply with 
any statutory provision to be observed or performed in connection with the provision of the Agreed 
Resources and the performance of the Support Services.   

22.5 The Council's liability to indemnity the Company arising under clauses 22.1 and 22.2 above shall be 
without prejudice to any other right or remedy of the Company arising under this Contract.  

22.6 The Council and the Company shall at all times take reasonable steps to minimise and mitigate any 
loss for which the relevant Party is entitled to bring a claim against any other pursuant to this 
Contract.  

22.7 Nothing in this clause shall limit the liability of the Council or Company for death or personal injury 
caused by the liable Party's negligence or fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation.  

43



 

13 
35437085.1 

23 TERMINATION 

Voluntary termination 
 
23.1 The Council may terminate this Contract at any time by giving no less than six Months' notice to the 

Company. 

23.2 This Contract shall immediately terminate on the termination of the Members’ Agreement.  

23.3 The Parties may by agreement terminate any of the Support Services at any time on not less than 
one Months' notice.  For the avoidance of doubt, where any Support Services are terminated and 
this Contract continues to remain in force, the terms of this Contract shall continue to apply in 
respect of the remaining Agreed Resources and Support Services.   

Termination on default 
 
23.4 Without prejudice to any other right or remedy it may possess, either the Council or the Company 

(the First Party) shall be entitled to immediately terminate this Contract, as between the Council and 
the Company, by written notice if the other Party (the Other Party): 

23.4.1 commits a material breach of this Contract which, where capable of remedy, is not 
remedied within one Month of the First Party serving written notice of such breach on the 
Other Party or such longer period as is agreed between the Parties; or 

23.4.2 commits a serious and fundamental breach of this Contract; or 

23.4.3 purports to assign or sub-contract its obligations under this Contract in breach of clause 
26.2. 

Effect of termination and expiry 
 
23.5 Following the occurrence of an event entitling a Party to terminate this Contract pursuant to this 

clause 23, the Council shall continue to provide the Agreed Resources and perform the Support 
Services until the date of termination, save where any breach of this Contract by the Company 
substantially frustrates or renders it impossible for the Council to perform its obligations under this 
Contract. 

23.6 Upon expiry of this Contract through effluxion of time or on earlier termination, and without prejudice 
to any other provisions of the Contract: 

23.6.1 the Parties shall co-operate fully in achieving an orderly and efficient handover of the 
Agreed Resources and Support Services to the Company or to any Replacement 
Provider; 

23.6.2 at the Company's request, the Council shall deliver to the Company all documents, 
records and other relevant data relating to the Agreed Resources and Support Services; 
and 

23.6.3 each Party shall immediately pay to the other Party all sums due under this Contract. 

23.7 Any expiry or termination of the Contract shall not prejudice the rights, obligations and duties of the 
Parties arising prior to such expiry or termination taking effect.  

24 FORCE MAJEURE 

24.1 Neither the Council nor the Company (the Affected Party) shall be deemed to be in breach of this 
Contract, or otherwise liable to the other by reason of any delay in performance or non-performance 
of any of its obligations hereunder to the extent that such delay or non-performance is due to a Force 
Majeure Event.  

44



 

14 
35437085.1 

24.2 If the Affected Party is unable to perform its duties and obligations under this Contract as a direct 
result of the effect of a Force Majeure Event, the Affected Party shall give written notice to the other 
Party of the inability and stating the reason in question and upon the reason ceasing to exist the 
Affected Party concerned shall give notice to the other Party of the fact. 

24.3 The Affected Party shall continue to provide those Agreed Resources and perform those Support 
Services it is reasonably able to perform during a Force Majeure Event and shall, at the other Party’s 
reasonable request, notify the other Party of the steps it has and is taking to comply with its 
obligations under this Contract. 

24.4 To the extent that the Force Majeure Event continues for a period greater than 180 days then either 
the Council or the Company may terminate this Contract without liability to the other Party. 

25 FURTHER ASSURANCE 

Each Party shall at its own cost and expense, on being required to do so by the other Party now or at 
any time in the future, do or procure the doing of all such acts and things and/or execute or procure 
the execution of all such deeds and documents in a form satisfactory to the other Party which such 
other Party may reasonably consider necessary for giving effect to this Contract. 

26 ASSIGNMENT AND SUB-CONTRACTING  

26.1 The Council may subcontract the provision of any part of the Agreed Resources and/or performance 
of the Support Services without the prior written consent of the Company, provided that the Council 
gives reasonable notice of its intention to subcontract to the Company.  Sub-contracting any part of 
the Contract shall not relieve the Council of any obligation or duty attributable to the Council under 
this Contract. 

26.2 Subject to the preceding clause, this Contract is personal to the Parties and no Party shall assign, 
transfer, subcontract or deal in any other manner with any of its rights and obligations under this 
Contract without the prior written consent of the Council.  Each Party hereby undertakes and 
represents to the other Party that it is entering into this Contract only for its own benefit. 

26.3 This Contract shall be binding on and shall endure for the benefit of each Party's successors. 

27 WAIVERS AND CONSENTS 

27.1 A waiver of any right or remedy under this Contract or by law, or any consent given under this 
Contract, is only effective if given in writing by the waiving or consenting Party and shall not be 
deemed a waiver of any other breach or default. It only applies in the circumstances for which it is 
given and shall not prevent the Party giving it from subsequently relying on the relevant provision. 

27.2 A failure or delay by a Party to exercise any right or remedy provided under this Contract or by law 
shall not constitute a waiver of that or any other right or remedy, prevent or restrict any further 
exercise of that or any other right or remedy or constitute an election to affirm this Contract. No 
single or partial exercise of any right or remedy provided under this Contract or by law shall prevent 
or restrict the further exercise of that or any other right or remedy. No election to affirm this Contract 
by the Council shall be effective unless it is in writing.  

28 RIGHTS AND REMEDIES 

The rights and remedies provided under this Contract are cumulative and are in addition to, and not 
exclusive of, any rights and remedies provided by law. 
 

29 SEVERANCE 

If any provision (or part of a provision) of this Contract is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable, 
it shall be deemed modified to the minimum extent necessary to make it valid, legal and enforceable. 
If such modification is not possible, the relevant provision (or part of a provision) shall be deemed 

45



 

15 
35437085.1 

deleted. Any modification to or deletion of a provision (or part of a provision) under this clause shall 
not affect the legality, validity and enforceability of the rest of this Contract. 
 

30 COUNTERPARTS 

This Contract may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when executed and 
delivered shall constitute a duplicate original, but all the counterparts shall together constitute one 
Contract. 
 

31 THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 

Except as expressly provided elsewhere in this Contract, a person who is not a party to this Contract 
shall not have any rights under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce, or enjoy 
the benefit of, any term of this Contract. This does not affect any right or remedy of a third party 
which exists, or is available, apart from that Act. 
 

32 NOTICES 

32.1 Any notice or other communication required to be given to a Party under or in connection with this 
Contract shall be: 

32.1.1 in writing; 

32.1.2 delivered by hand, by pre-paid first-class post or other next working day delivery service 
or sent by electronic mail; and 

32.1.3 sent to:  

(a) the Council at: 

[address] 
 
Email:   
Attention:   
 

(b) the Company 

[address] 
 
Email:   
Attention:   
 
 

or to any other address or email address as is notified in writing by one Party to the other 
from time to time. 

32.2 Any notice or other communication shall be deemed to have been received: 

32.2.1 if delivered by hand, at the time it is left at the relevant address; 

32.2.2 if posted by pre-paid first-class post or other next working day delivery service, on the 
second Business Day after posting; and 

32.2.3 if sent by electronic mail, upon receipt by the Party to which it is given. 

A notice or other communication given as described in clause 32.2.1 or clause 32.2.3 on a day that 
is not a Business Day, or after normal business hours, in the place it is received, shall be deemed to 
have been received on the next Business Day. 

 

46



 

16 
35437085.1 

32.3 Any notice or other communication given to the Council shall be deemed to have been received only 
on actual receipt. 

33 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

33.1 This Contract and the documents referred to in it constitute the entire agreement between the 
Parties relating to its/their subject matter and supersede all previous agreements between the 
Parties relating to such matters.   

33.2 Each of the Parties acknowledges that in agreeing to enter into this Contract it has not relied on any 
representation, warranty, collateral contract or other assurance (except those set out in this Contract 
and/or the documents referred to in it) made by or on behalf of the other Party before the signature 
of this Contract.  Each of the Parties waives:  

33.2.1 all rights and remedies which, but for this clause 33.2, might otherwise be available to it in 
respect of any such representation, warranty, collateral contract or other assurance; and  

33.2.2 all rights and remedies, other than remedies for breach of contract available in respect of 
a breach of this Contract and/or the documents referred to in it, which, but for this clause 
33.2, might otherwise be available to it in respect of the falsity of any representation or 
warranty set out in this Contract and/or the documents referred to in it, 

provided that nothing in this clause 33.2 shall limit or exclude any liability for fraud or dishonesty on 
the part of any Party. 

34 VARIATION 

No variation to the terms of this Contract shall be effective unless made in writing and signed by 
each of the Parties and any person who agrees to be bound by this Contract. 

35 COSTS AND EXPENSES 

All costs and expenses in relation to the negotiation, preparation, execution and carrying into effect 
of this Contract and all other documents referred to in it shall be borne by the Council, save for any 
private advice sought by the Company which shall be for the cost of the Company. 

36 SET-OFF  

All amounts falling due under this Contract shall be paid in full without any set-off or counterclaim. 

37 NO PARTNERSHIP OR AGENCY 

Nothing in this Contract is intended to or shall operate to create a partnership between the Parties, 
or to authorise either Party to act as agent for the other, and no Party shall have authority to act in 
the name or on behalf of or otherwise to bind the other Party in any way. 

38 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

38.1 This Contract is governed by and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of England and 
each Party submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England for all purposes relating to 
this Contract. 

38.2 Each Party irrevocably consents to any process in any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in 
connection with this Contract being served on it in accordance with the provisions of 32. Nothing 
contained in this Contract shall affect the right to serve process in any other manner permitted by 
law. 

This Contract has been executed as a deed and has been entered into on the date stated at the beginning of 
it. 

47



 

17 
35437085.1 

  

48



 

18 
35437085.1 

 
 
 
 
The Common Seal of the  )  
SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL )  
was hereunto affixed in the presence of: )   
 ) Authorised signatory 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executed as a deed by )  
LEISURESK LIMITED )  
acting by a director in the presence of: )   
 ) Director 

Witness signature:   

Name:   

Address:   

   

   
 
 
 
 

49



 

19 
35437085.1 

SCHEDULE 1 - CONTRACT PRICE  

 
Part 1 – Calculation of the Contract Price 

1 The Company shall pay the Council the Contract Price. 

2 The Contract Price shall be an amount equalling the Total Cost (defined below) for all services, 
licences, goods or benefits of whatever nature (collectively referred to as Council Support) provided 
to the Company by the Council under this Contract. 

2.1 The Total Cost for each element of Council Support shall be a fair and reasonable proportion of any 
costs or charges of any nature incurred by the Council whether directly or indirectly in connection 
with or in relation to that element of Council Support.  

2.2 The Parties shall agree the Contract Price, or where more appropriate an estimate of the Contract 
Price, in writing as part of the process under paragraph 2 before the relevant Council Support is 
provided. 

3 The amount agreed as the Contract Price payable by the Company to the Council under or pursuant 
to this Contract shall be exclusive of VAT (if any).  If any VAT is chargeable on any supply made by 
the Council under or pursuant to this Contract, the Company shall on receipt of a valid VAT invoice 
pay the Council an amount equal to that VAT. 

 

Part 2 – Payment of the Contract Price 

1 The Council shall invoice the Company within 5 Business Days of the end of each Month for all 
Council Support provided by the Council in the preceding Month.  The invoice shall be rendered on 
the Council's own invoice form and shall:  

1.1 be delivered electronically to a named account within the Company; 

1.2 show the period to which the invoice relates; 

1.3 show the aspects of the Council Support for which payment is claimed; 

1.4 identify what proportion (if any) of the sum invoiced is attributable to VAT; and  

1.5 shall be supported by any other documentation reasonably required by the Contract Manager to 
substantiate the invoice. 

2 Subject to paragraph 1 above, payment of undisputed sums is to be made within fourteen days from 
the end of the Month of receipt of the relevant invoice, and payment of disputed sums is to be made 
within fourteen days from the end of the Month of such sums being agreed or determined in 
accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure. 

3 The Company shall notify the Council in writing within seven days of receipt of the relevant invoice if 
it disputes any of the charges payable under such invoice.  On the Council receiving such notice of 
dispute, the Parties shall instigate the Dispute Resolution Procedure.  

50



 

20 
35437085.1 

SCHEDULE 2 - LICENCE TO USE COUNCIL PREMISES  

 
[Reminder - the premises at which the Business is primarily undertaken shall not be a Property (and the 
occupation of those premises shall be governed by a separate agreement entered into between the Council 
and the Company)] 
 
 

Part 1 - Licence 

1 Definitions 

In this Schedule: 

 Building means the building specified in the Notice 

 Common Parts means the roads, paths, entrance halls, corridors lifts, staircases, landing and other 
means of access in or upon the Building, the use of which is necessary for obtaining access to and 
egress from the Property as designated from time to time by the Council 

 Competent Authority means any statutory undertaker or any statutory, public, local or other 
authority or regulatory body or any court of law or government department or any of their duly 
authorised officers 

 Licence means the provisions set out in this Schedule 

 Licence Fee means the licence fee specified in the Notice  

 Licence Fee Commencement Date means the licence fee commencement date stipulated in the 
Notice  

 Licence Period means the period specified in the Notice  

 Necessary Consents means all planning permissions and other consents, licences, permissions, 
certificates, authorisations and approvals whether of a public or private nature that shall be required 
by any Competent Authority for the Permitted Use 

 Permitted Use means the uses specified by the Council in the Notice  

 Property means the property specified in the Notice  

 Service Media means all media for the supply or removal of heat, electricity, gas, water, sewage, 
air-conditioning, energy, telecommunications, data and all other services and utilities and all 
structures, machinery and equipment ancillary to those media 

2 Licence to occupy 

2.1 The Council permits the Company to occupy the Property for the Permitted Use for the Licence 
Period in common with the Council and all others authorised by the Council (so far as is not 
inconsistent with the rights given to the Company to use the Property for the Permitted Use) together 
with the rights of the Company during the Licence Period to use:   

2.1.1 such parts of the Common Parts for the purpose of access to and egress from the 
Property as shall from time to time be designated by the Council for such purpose; 

2.1.2 the Service Media serving the Property,  

subject to the Council populating, signing and delivering a Notice to the Company and the Company 
countersigning that Notice.  

51



 

21 
35437085.1 

 

2.2 The Company acknowledges that: 

2.2.1 the Company shall occupy the Property as a licensee and that no relationship of landlord 
and tenant is created between the Council and the Company by this Licence; 

2.2.2 the Council retains control, possession and management of the Property and the 
Company have no right to exclude the Council from the Property; and 

2.2.3 subject to paragraph 2.3, the licence to occupy granted by this Licence is personal to the 
Company and is not assignable and the rights given in this paragraph 2 may only be 
exercised by the Company and its employees. 

2.3 The Company shall not grant any sub-licence of this Licence without the prior written consent of the 
Council, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. 

3 Company's obligations 

3.1 The Company agrees and undertakes: 

3.1.1 to pay: 

(a) the Licence Fee to the Council together with such VAT as may be payable on the 
Licence Fee without any deduction in advance from and including the Licence Fee 
Commencement Date until determination of the Licence in accordance with 
paragraph 4; of Part 1 of this Schedule; and 

(b) all costs in connection with the supply of electricity, gas, water, sewage, 
telecommunications and data and other services and utilities to or from the 
Property to the relevant suppliers thereof; 

3.1.2 to keep the Property clean, tidy and clear of rubbish; 

3.1.3 not to use the Property other than for the Permitted Use; 

3.1.4 not to make any alteration or addition whatsoever to the Property; 

3.1.5 not to display any advertisement, signboard, name plate, inscription, flag, banner, 
placard, poster, signs or notices at the Property or elsewhere in the Building without the 
prior written consent of the Council Representative; 

3.1.6 not to cause or permit to be caused any damage to: 

(a) the Property, Building or any neighbouring property; or 

(b) any property of the owners or occupiers of the Property, Building or any 
neighbouring property; 

3.1.7 not to do or permit to be done on the Property anything which is illegal or which may be 
or become a nuisance (whether or not actionable), damage, annoyance, inconvenience 
or disturbance to the Council or to tenants or occupiers of the Building or any owner or 
occupier of neighbouring property; 

3.1.8 not to obstruct the Common Parts, make them dirty or untidy or leave any rubbish on 
them; 

3.1.9 not to apply for any planning permission in respect of the Property; 

52



 

22 
35437085.1 

3.1.10 not to do anything that would or might constitute a breach of any Necessary Consents 
affecting the Property or which would or might vitiate in whole or in part any insurance 
effected by the Council in respect of the Property and Building from time to time; 

3.1.11 to observe any rules or regulations the Council makes and notifies to the Company from 
time to time in respect of the Property and the Common Parts;  

3.1.12 to leave the Property in a clean and tidy condition and to remove the Company's furniture, 
equipment and goods from the Property at the end of the Licence Period; and 

3.1.13 to pay to the Council interest on the Licence Fee or other payments at a rate in 
accordance with the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 from time to 
time calculated on a daily basis from the due date until payment if the Company shall fail 
to pay the Licence Fee or other payments due under this Licence within ten days of the 
due date (whether formally demanded or not).  

3.2 The Company agrees to indemnify the Council and keep the Council indemnified against all losses, 
claims, demands, actions, proceedings, damages, costs, expenses or other liability arising in any 
way from: 

3.2.1 this Licence; 

3.2.2 any breach of the undertakings contained in paragraph 3; and/or 

3.2.3 the exercise of any rights given in paragraph 2. 

4 Termination 

4.1 The licence to occupy granted by this Licence shall end on the earlier of: 

4.1.1 date on which the Licence is to end; 

4.1.2 immediately on notice given by the Council at any time following breach of any of the 
obligations contained in paragraph 3; and  

4.1.3 on termination of the Contract in accordance with clause 23 of the Contract. 

4.2 Termination is without prejudice to the rights of any Party in connection with any antecedent breach 
of or other obligations subsisting under this Licence. 

5 Exclusion of warranty 

5.1 The Council gives no warranty that the Property possesses the Necessary Consents for the 
Permitted Use. 

5.2 The Council gives no warranty that the Property is legally or physically fit for the purposes specified 
in paragraph 2. 

5.3 The Council shall not be liable to the Company for the death or injury, of any of its employees, 
customers or authorised invitees or for damage to any property of its or theirs, or for any losses, 
claims, demands, actions, proceedings, damages, costs or expenses or other liability incurred by 
them in the exercise or purported exercise of the rights granted by paragraph 2. 

  

53



 

23 
35437085.1 

 

Part 2 – Notice  

[To Whom it may concern] 
[Company] 
[address] 
 
[Insert relevant date] 
 
Dear Sirs 
 
Notice in respect of an agreement dated [  ] 2020 and made between (1) South Kesteven 
District Council and (2) [Company] (the Resources Agreement)  
 
We refer to the Resources Agreement. Words and expressions defined in the Resources Agreement shall 
have the meaning given to those terms by the Resources Agreement, unless given a different meaning in 
this Notice. 
 
Subject to the Company agreeing to the terms of this Notice by countersigning and dating below, the Council 
hereby acknowledges and agrees that the Resources Agreement shall, on and from such countersignature 
and dating, be read and construed to include the following:  
 

Property  means [ ] 

Building  means [ ] 

Licence Fee  means [ ] 

Licence Fee Commencement Date  means [ ] 

Licence Period  means [] 

 
Save as set out above in all other respects the Resources Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.  
 
 
………………………………………………. 
Signed on behalf of the Council 
 
 
We agree to the terms of this Notice and to abide by the terms of the Licence  
 
 
 
……………………………………………….  ………………………………………………. 
Signed on behalf of [Company]    Date 

54



 

24 
35437085.1 

SCHEDULE 3 - RESOURCE REQUEST FORM[S] 

 
FROM:  Company  
 
TO:  Council 
 
Date:  ……………………………………… 
 
We refer to the Resource Contract made between South Kesteven District Council and LeisureSK Limited 
(the Resource Contract).  Terms defined in the Resource Contract shall have the same meaning when 
used in this Request Form, unless the context requires otherwise.  
 
We request that you provide the resources and/or services specified in the schedule hereto and in 
accordance with the terms of the Resource Contract.  If there is any conflict between the terms of this 
Request Form, including the schedule hereto, and the Resource Contract, then the terms of this Request 
Form shall prevail as between us in respect of the resources and/or services so specified in the schedule 
hereto. 
 
Please confirm your response in connection with our request.   
 
 
 
 
……………………………………… 
For and on behalf of 
LeisureSK Limited 
 
 
RESPONSE (please tick the relevant response)   
 

By countersigning below, we accept your request above subject to agreement of the terms 
of provision * 
  

 

By countersigning below, we confirm our willingness and ability to provide the requested 
resources in principle, but subject to amendment of the timeframe as set out in clause 
3.4of the Resource Contract * 

 

By countersigning below, we confirm our willingness and ability to provide the requested 
resources in principle, but subject to particular requests or questions specified * 
 

 

By countersigning below, we confirm we are not willing or shall not be able to meet the 
requirements of this Request Form 
 

 

 
* We include the following comments here in relation to our response:  
 
[ ] 
 
 
 
 
 
………………………………………   ……………………………………… 
For and on behalf of     Date 
[PROVIDER] 
 
  

55



 

25 
35437085.1 

SCHEDULE TO REQUEST FORM 
 

Contract reference 
number 
  

 

Delivery location 
 
  

 

Resources / number of 
Staff required  
 
 
 

 

Report to and telephone 
number 
 
  

 

Period during which 
resources / staff / 
services to be provided / 
delivered (start date and 
end date) 
 

 

Hours of provision / 
delivery (start and finish 
times) 
 

 

Specification / essential 
skills required 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Services to be provided / 
work to be undertaken 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[For Staff] Grade level of 
work to be undertaken 
 

 
 
 
 

Reason for resource 
being requested 
  

 
 
 
 

Price   
 

Other information  
 
 

 

 

56



 

26 
35437085.1 

To be completed by Finance Team: 
 

Funding arrangements 
agreed 

Yes/No 
 
 

Charge / budget code 
 
 

 
 

Approved Yes/No 
 
 

Signature  
 
 

 
[For Staff] To be completed by HR Team 
 

Booked on 
 
 

 

Start date 
 
  

 

Finish date 
 
  

 

Names of individuals to 
be supplied 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

Paperwork completed 
 
  

 

Signature  
 
 

 

 
 
 

57



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
COMPANY NUMBER 12888724 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 
 

PRIVATE COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

 
OF  

 
LEISURESK LIMITED 

 

 
  

59

Appendix 2



 

 

Contents 

Item Page 

 
1 DEFINED TERMS ................................................................................................................................... 2 

2 LIABILITY OF THE OWNER .................................................................................................................. 3 

3 OBJECTS ................................................................................................................................................ 3 

4 APPLICATION OF INCOME AND PROPERTY ..................................................................................... 3 

5 DIRECTORS’ GENERAL AUTHORITY.................................................................................................. 4 

6 OWNER’S RESERVE POWER .............................................................................................................. 4 

7 DIRECTORS MAY DELEGATE .............................................................................................................. 4 

8 COMMITTEES ......................................................................................................................................... 5 

9 DIRECTORS TO TAKE DECISIONS COLLECTIVELY ......................................................................... 5 

10 UNANIMOUS DECISIONS ..................................................................................................................... 5 

11 CALLING A DIRECTORS’ MEETING .................................................................................................... 5 

12 PARTICIPATION IN DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS ..................................................................................... 6 

13 QUORUM FOR DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS ............................................................................................ 6 

14 CHAIRING OF DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS.............................................................................................. 6 

15 DIRECTORS' CONFLICTS OF INTEREST ............................................................................................ 7 

16 AUTHORISATION OF DIRECTORS' CONFLICTS OF INTEREST ....................................................... 7 

17 RECORDS OF DECISIONS TO BE KEPT ............................................................................................. 8 

18 DIRECTORS’ DISCRETION TO MAKE FURTHER RULES .................................................................. 8 

19 APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS .............................................................................. 8 

20 TERMINATION OF DIRECTOR’S APPOINTMENT ............................................................................... 8 

21 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION ............................................................................................................ 9 

22 DIRECTORS’ EXPENSES ...................................................................................................................... 9 

23 COMPANY SECRETARY ....................................................................................................................... 9 

24 OWNER REPRESENTATIVE ................................................................................................................. 9 

25 CALLING A GENERAL MEETING ......................................................................................................... 9 

26 PROCEEDING AT A GENERAL MEETINGS ...................................................................................... 10 

27 ERRORS AND DISPUTES ................................................................................................................... 11 

28 AMENDMENTS TO RESOLUTIONS .................................................................................................... 11 

29 WRITTEN RESOLUTIONS ................................................................................................................... 11 

30 MEANS OF COMMUNICATION TO BE USED .................................................................................... 11 

31 COMPANY SEALS ............................................................................................................................... 12 

32 INDEMNITY ........................................................................................................................................... 13 

33 INSURANCE ......................................................................................................................................... 13 

  

60



 

2 
35538009-1 

 
THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 

 
PRIVATE COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE 

 
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

 
OF 

 
LEISURESK LIMITED 

 
 
 
1 DEFINED TERMS 

1.1 Neither:  

1.1.1 the model articles for private companies limited by guarantee contained in Schedule 2 of 
the Companies (Model Articles) Regulations 2008 (SI 2009/3229); nor  

1.1.2 any other regulations or model articles contained in any statute or subordinate legislation,   

shall apply to the Company, but the following shall be the articles of association of the Company. 

1.2 In these articles, unless the context requires otherwise: 

 articles mean the Company's articles of association 

 bankruptcy includes individual insolvency proceedings in a jurisdiction other than England and Wales 
or Northern Ireland which have an effect similar to that of bankruptcy 

 Chair has the meaning given in article 14 

 Companies Acts means the Companies Acts (as defined in section 2 of the Companies Act 2006), in 
so far as they apply to the Company 

 Conflict means a situation in which a Director has or can have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts 
or possibly may conflict, with the interests of the Company 

 Director means a director of the Company 

 document includes, unless otherwise specified, any document sent or supplied in electronic form 

 electronic form has the meaning given in section 1168 of the Companies Act 2006 

 hard copy form has the meaning given in section 1168 of the Companies Act 2006 

 instrument means a document in hard copy form 

 ordinary resolution has the meaning given in section 282 of the Companies Act 2006 

 Owner means a person or body whose name is entered in the Register of Members of the Company 

 participate, in relation to a Directors’ meeting, has the meaning given in article 12 

 special resolution has the meaning given in section 283 of the Companies Act 2006 

61



 

3 
35538009-1 

 writing means the representation or reproduction of words, symbols or other information in a visible 
form by any method or combination of methods, whether sent or supplied in electronic form or 
otherwise 

1.3 Unless the context otherwise requires, other words or expressions contained in these articles bear the 
same meaning as in the Companies Act 2006 as in force on the date when these articles become 
binding on the Company. 

1.4 Any words following the terms including, include, in particular, for example or any similar 
expression shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit the sense of the words, description, 
definition, phrase or term preceding those terms. 

2 LIABILITY OF THE OWNER 

2.1 The liability of the Owner is limited to £1, being the amount the Owner undertakes to contribute to the 
assets of the Company in the event of it being wound up while it is an Owner or within one year after 
it ceases to be an Owner:  

2.1.1 payment of those debts and liabilities of the Company incurred before it ceased to be an 
Owner; 

2.1.2 payment of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up; and 

2.1.3 the adjustment of rights of contributors among themselves. 

3 OBJECTS  

3.1 The objects of the Company are: 

3.1.1 to provide leisure, sports and cultural facilities and services; 

3.1.2 to liaise and co-operate with all interested groups within the community to develop and 
deliver this service; 

3.1.3 to promote and enter into partnerships or arrangements of all kinds to improve or extend 
the facilities and services offered; 

3.1.4 to explore all avenues of funding and finance for such services; 

3.1.5 to improve health and well-being through a range of outcomes, including reduced obesity, 
reduced anti-social behaviour and narrowing the health inequality gap; 

3.1.6 to increase jobs, strengthening the local economy and enable children, young people and 
adults to learn and be ready for work; 

3.1.7 to carry on any other trade or business which in the opinion of the Directors is in the best 
interest of the Company or the Owner; and 

3.1.8 without prejudice to the objects listed above in articles 3.1.1 to 3.1.7, to carry on any trade 
or business of a general commercial company. 

4 APPLICATION OF INCOME AND PROPERTY 

4.1 The income and property of the Company (wherever derived) shall be applied solely in promoting the 
Company's objects. 

4.2 No distribution shall be paid or capital otherwise returned to the Owners in cash or otherwise. Nothing 
in these articles shall prevent any payment in good faith by the Company of: 

62



 

4 
35538009-1 

4.2.1 reasonable and proper remuneration to any Owner, officer or servant of the Company for 
any services rendered to the Company; 

4.2.2 any interest on money lent by any Owner or any Director at a reasonable and proper rate; 

4.2.3 reasonable and proper rent for premises demised or let by any Owner or Director; or 

4.2.4 reasonable out-of-pocket expenses properly incurred by any Director, 

provided that if upon the winding up or dissolution of the Company there remains, after the satisfaction 
of all its debts and liabilities, any property whatsoever, the same shall not be paid to or distributed to 
the Owner, but shall be given or transferred to any company, organisation or association having 
objects similar to the objects of the Company (and which prohibits the distribution of its income and 
property to an extent at least as great as is imposed on the Company by these articles) chosen by the 
Owner at or before the time of dissolution, and if that cannot be done then to some charitable or 
philanthropic object for the benefit of the inhabitants of the area of South Kesteven and/or its 
surrounding area.  

5  DIRECTORS’ GENERAL AUTHORITY 

5.1 Subject to these articles and the terms of any agreement between the Owner and the Company from 
time to time, the Directors are responsible for the management of the Company’s business, for which 
purpose they may exercise all the powers of the Company. 

6 OWNER’S RESERVE POWER 

6.1 The Owner may, by special resolution, direct the Directors to take, or refrain from taking, specified 
action. 

6.2 No such special resolution invalidates anything which the Directors have done before the passing of 
the resolution. 

7 DIRECTORS MAY DELEGATE 

7.1 Subject to these articles, the Directors may delegate any of the powers which are conferred on them 
under these articles: 

7.1.1 to such person or committee; 

7.1.2 by such means (including by power of attorney); 

7.1.3 to such an extent; 

7.1.4 in relation to such matters or territories; and 

7.1.5 on such terms and conditions, 

as they think fit. 

7.2 If the Directors so specify, any such delegation may authorise further delegation of the Directors’ 
powers by any person to whom they are delegated. 

7.3 The Directors or the Owner may revoke any delegation in whole or part, or alter its terms and 
conditions. 

63



 

5 
35538009-1 

8 COMMITTEES 

8.1 Committees to which the Directors delegate any of their powers must follow procedures which are 
based as far as they are applicable on those provisions of these articles which govern the taking of 
decisions by Directors. 

8.2 At least one member of the committee must be a Director.  The relevant Director must form part of the 
quorum of the committee for a decision of the committee to be validly taken. 

8.3 The Directors may make rules of procedure for all or any committees, which prevail over rules derived 
from these articles if they are not consistent with them. 

8.4 All proceedings of committees must be reported promptly to the Directors. 

9 DIRECTORS TO TAKE DECISIONS COLLECTIVELY 

9.1 The general rule about decision-making by Directors is that any decision of the Directors must be 
either a majority decision at a meeting or a decision taken in accordance with article 9.2. 

9.2 If only one Director is eligible to vote on any authorisation under article 16 or if there is only one 
Director, the general rule does not apply and the eligible Director may take decisions in relation to the 
relevant matter without regard to any of the provisions in these articles relating to Directors' decision-
making. 

9.3 Every Director has one vote on each issue. 

9.4 A procedural defect of which the Directors are unaware at the time does not invalidate decisions taken 
at a meeting.  

10 UNANIMOUS DECISIONS  

10.1 A decision of the Directors is taken in accordance with this article when all eligible Directors indicate 
to each other by any means that they share a common view on a matter. 

10.2 Such a decision may take the form of a resolution in writing, which may consist of several copies each 
signed by one or more eligible Directors or to which the eligible Directors have otherwise indicated 
agreement in writing. 

10.3 References in this article to eligible Directors are to Directors who would have been entitled to vote on 
the matter had it been proposed as a resolution at a Directors’ meeting. 

10.4 A decision may not be taken in accordance with this article if the eligible Directors would not have 
formed a quorum at such a meeting. 

11 CALLING A DIRECTORS’ MEETING 

11.1 The Owner or any Director may call a Directors’ meeting by giving notice of the meeting to the Directors 
or by authorising the company secretary (if any) to give such notice. 

11.2 A meeting of the Directors must be called by at least seven days' notice unless either: 

11.2.1 the Directors unanimously agree otherwise; or 

11.2.2 urgent circumstances require shorter notice. 

11.3 Notice of any Directors’ meeting must indicate: 

11.3.1 its proposed date and time; 

64



 

6 
35538009-1 

11.3.2 where it is to take place (which may be physical, virtual or a combination); and 

11.3.3 if it is anticipated that Directors participating in the meeting will not be in the same place, 
how it is proposed that they should communicate with each other during the meeting. 

11.4 Notice of a Directors’ meeting must be given to each Director, but need not be in writing. 

11.5 Notice of a Directors’ meeting need not be given to Directors who waive their entitlement to notice of 
that meeting.  A Director may waive the requirement that notice of a meeting of the Directors or of a 
committee of the Directors be given to him at any time before or after the date on which the meeting 
is held by notifying the Company to that effect.  Where a Director gives such notice after the meeting 
has been held, that does not affect the validity of the meeting, or of any business conducted at it. 

12 PARTICIPATION IN DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

12.1 Subject to these articles, Directors participate in a Directors’ meeting, or part of a Directors’ meeting, 
when: 

12.1.1 the meeting has been called and takes place in accordance with these articles; and 

12.1.2 they can each communicate to the others any information or opinions they have on any 
particular item of the business of the meeting. 

12.2 In determining whether Directors are participating in a Directors’ meeting, it is irrelevant where any 
Director is or how they communicate with each other. 

12.3 If all the Directors participating in a meeting are not in the same place, the meeting shall be deemed 
to take place where the largest group of those participating is assembled or, if there is no such group, 
where the Chair of the meeting is.   

13 QUORUM FOR DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

13.1 At a Directors’ meeting, unless a quorum is participating, no proposal is to be voted on, except a 
proposal to call another meeting. 

13.2 The quorum for the transaction of business of the Directors shall be two Directors.  If the total number 
of Directors for the time being is less than the quorum required, the Directors must not take any 
decision other than a decision to call a general meeting so as to enable the Owner to appoint further 
Directors.  

13.3 If a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting, or during a 
meeting a quorum ceases to be present, the meeting shall be adjourned to such time and place as the 
Directors may determine.  

14  CHAIRING OF DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

14.1 The Owner shall appoint a Director to chair the meetings of the Directors.  The person so appointed 
for the time being is known as the Chair. 

14.2 The Owner may:  

14.2.1 appoint a person as chairman of the Directors;  

14.2.2 determine the period for which the Chair is to hold office; and  

14.2.3 at any time remove the Chair from office.  

14.3 The Owner may terminate the Chair’s appointment at any time. 

65



 

7 
35538009-1 

14.4 If at the date and time of a meeting of the Directors no person has been appointed as Chair pursuant 
to article 14.2, or if the person so appointed is not present within 15 minutes of the time set of the 
meeting, then the participating Directors may appoint a Director present to act as Chair and to chair 
that meeting. The participating Directors may terminate the appointment of a person as Chair made 
under this article 14.4 at any time during the meeting at which the Chair is appointed.  

14.5 The Chair or other Director chairing the meeting shall not have a casting voting if the numbers of votes 
for and against a proposal are equal. 

15 DIRECTORS' CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

15.1 A Director must declare the nature and extent of any interest, direct or indirect, which he or she has in 
a proposed transaction or arrangement with the Company or in any transaction or arrangement 
entered into by the Company which has not previously been declared.  A Director must absent himself 
or herself from any discussions of the Directors in which it is possible that a Conflict will arise between 
his or her duty to act solely in the interests of the Company and any personal interest (including but 
not limited to any personal financial interest) and not count in the quorum nor vote on any such matters 
unless otherwise authorised by article 16.  A Director shall not have a Conflict of interest for the 
purposes of these articles as an officer, member or employee of the Owner. 

15.2 Subject to article 15.3 if a question arises at a meeting of Directors or of a committee of Directors as 
to the right of a Director to participate in the meeting (or part of the meeting) for voting or quorum 
purposes, the question may, before the conclusion of the meeting, be referred to the Chair whose 
ruling in relation to any Director other than the Chair is to be final and conclusive. 

15.3 If any question as to the right to participate in the meeting (or part of the meeting) should arise in 
respect of the Chair, the question is to be decided by a decision of the Directors at that meeting, for 
which purpose the Chair is not to be counted as participating in the meeting (or that part of the meeting) 
for voting or quorum purposes. 

16 AUTHORISATION OF DIRECTORS' CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

16.1 For the purposes of section 175 of the Companies Act 2006, as amended, consolidated or re-enacted 
from time to time, the Directors shall have the power to authorise any matter which would or might 
otherwise constitute or give rise to a breach by a Director of the duty to avoid conflicts of interest set 
out in that section of the Companies Act 2006.  Any reference in these articles to a Conflict of interest 
includes a Conflict of interest and duty and a Conflict of duties. 

16.2 Authorisation of a matter under this article 16 shall be effective only if: 

16.2.1 the matter in question shall have been proposed in writing for consideration by the 
Directors, or in such other manner as the Directors may determine; 

16.2.2 any requirement as to the quorum at the meeting of the Directors at which the matter is 
considered is met without counting the Director in question and any other interested 
Director (together, the Interested Directors); and 

16.2.3 the matter was agreed to without the Interested Directors voting or would have been agreed 
to if the votes of the Interested Directors had not been counted. 

16.3 Unless otherwise determined by the Directors (excluding the Interested Directors), any authorisation 
of a matter under this article 16 shall extend to any actual or potential Conflict of interest which may 
reasonably be expected to arise out of the matter so authorised. 

16.4 Any authorisation of a matter under this article 16 shall be on such terms and/or conditions as the 
Directors (excluding the Interested Directors) may determine, whether at the time such authorisation 
is given or subsequently and may be varied or terminated by the Directors (excluding the Interested 
Directors) at any time.  Such terms or conditions may include (without limitation) terms and conditions 
as to the duration, renewal and/or revocation of the authorisation, and/or the exclusion of the Interested 
Directors from all information and discussion of the matter in question.  A Director shall comply with 

66



 

8 
35538009-1 

any obligations imposed on him by the Directors (excluding the Interested Directors) pursuant to any 
such authorisation. 

16.5 If a Director receives or has received any information otherwise than by virtue of his position as a 
Director of the Company and in respect of which he owes a duty of confidentiality to another person, 
the Director is under no obligation to: 

16.5.1 disclose any such information to the Company, the Directors or any other employee of the 
Company; or 

16.5.2 use or apply any such information in connection with the performance of his duties as a 
Director, 

provided that to the extent that such duty of confidentiality arises out of a situation or relationship which 
would or might otherwise constitute or give rise to a breach by the Director of the duty to avoid Conflicts 
of interest set out in section 175 of the Companies Act 2006, this article 16.5 shall apply only if such 
situation or relationship has been authorised by the Directors under this article 16. 

16.6 A Director shall not, save as otherwise agreed by him, be accountable to the Company for any benefit 
which he (or a person connected with him) derives from any matter authorised by the Directors under 
this article and any contract, transaction or arrangement relating thereto shall not be liable to be 
avoided on the grounds of any such benefit. 

17 RECORDS OF DECISIONS TO BE KEPT 

17.1 The Directors must ensure that the Company keeps a record, in writing, for at least 10 years from the 
date of the decision recorded, of every unanimous or majority decision taken by the Directors. 

18 DIRECTORS’ DISCRETION TO MAKE FURTHER RULES 

18.1 Subject to these articles, the Directors may make any rule which they think fit about how they take 
decisions, and about how such rules are to be recorded or communicated to Directors. 

19 APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS  

19.1 Unless otherwise determined by the Owner, the number of Directors shall be a minimum of one and a 
maximum of five, from time to time. 

19.2 The Owner shall appoint and remove Directors at any time and on such terms as the Owner 
determines.  Every such appointment or removal shall be effected by notice in writing to the Company 
and shall take effect immediately (or on such later date, if any, specified in the notice).  

19.3 A Director may not appoint an alternate Director or anyone to act on his or her behalf at meetings of 
the Directors. 

19.4 Any removal pursuant to this article 19 shall be without prejudice to any claim that a Director may have 
under any contract between him and the Company. 

20 TERMINATION OF DIRECTOR’S APPOINTMENT 

20.1 A person ceases to be a Director as soon as: 

20.1.1 that person ceases to be a Director by virtue of any provision of the Companies Act 2006 
or is prohibited from being a director by law; 

20.1.2 that person has for more than six consecutive months been absent without permission of 
the Directors from meetings of Directors held during that period and the Directors resolve 
that person's office be vacated; 

67



 

9 
35538009-1 

20.1.3 a bankruptcy order is made against that person; 

20.1.4 a composition is made with that person’s creditors generally in satisfaction of that person’s 
debts; 

20.1.5 a registered medical practitioner who is treating that person gives a written opinion to the 
Company stating that that person has become physically or mentally incapable of acting 
as a Director and may remain so for more than three months; 

20.1.6 notification is received by the Company from the Director that the Director is resigning from 
office, and such resignation has taken effect in accordance with its terms; or 

20.1.7 is removed by the Owner by notice in writing to the company secretary. 

21 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 

21.1 Directors may undertake any services for the Company that the Directors decide. 

21.2 Subject to the Local Authorities (Companies) Order 1995 and the prior approval of the Owner, 
Directors are entitled to such remuneration as the Directors determine: 

21.2.1 for their services to the Company as Directors; and 

21.2.2 for any other service which they undertake for the Company. 

21.3 Unless the Directors decide otherwise, Directors are not accountable to the Company for any 
remuneration which they receive as Directors or other officers or employees of the Owner or of any 
other body corporate in which the Company is interested. 

22 DIRECTORS’ EXPENSES 

22.1 Subject to the Local Authorities (Companies) Order 1995 and to such general rules and limitations as 
the Owner may from time to time determine, the Company may pay any reasonable expenses which 
the Directors properly incur in connection with their attendance at: 

22.1.1 meetings of Directors or committees of Directors; 

22.1.2 general meetings; or 

22.1.3 otherwise in connection with the exercise of their powers and the discharge of their 
responsibilities in relation to the Company. 

23 COMPANY SECRETARY 

23.1 The Directors may appoint a company secretary for such term, at such remuneration and upon such 
conditions as they think fit.  Any company secretary may be removed or replaced by the Directors. 

24 OWNER REPRESENTATIVE 

24.1 Subject to the provisions of any agreement between the Owner and the Company in force from time 
to time, there shall be a sole Owner of the Company. The Owner may appoint an individual to exercise 
its rights at general meetings and to give or receive notices and other documents under these articles.  

25 CALLING A GENERAL MEETING 

25.1 The Owner or the Directors may call a general meeting at any time.  

25.2 The Company may each calendar year hold a general meeting as its annual general meeting in 
addition to any other general meetings and shall specify the meeting as such in the notices calling it. 

68



 

10 
35538009-1 

25.3 The minimum period of notice required to hold a general meeting of the Company is fourteen clear 
days. 

25.4 A general meeting may be called by shorter notice if it is so agreed by the Owner. 

25.5 The notice of general meeting must specify the date time and place of, or online meeting location for, 
the meeting and the general nature of the business to be transacted.  The notice must also contain a 
statement setting out the right of the Owner to appoint a proxy under section 324 of the Companies 
Act 2006. 

25.6 The notice must be given to the Owner and to the Directors. 

25.7 The proceedings at a meeting shall not be invalidated because a person who was entitled to receive 
notice of the meeting did not receive it because of an accidental omission by the Company. 

26 PROCEEDING AT A GENERAL MEETINGS 

26.1 No business is to be transacted at a general meeting if the person(s) attending it do not constitute a 
quorum.  A quorum is formed by the duly authorised representative of the Owner. 

26.2 If: 

26.2.1 a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting; or 

26.2.2 during a meeting a quorum ceases to be present; 

the meeting shall be adjourned to such time and place as the Owner shall determine. 

26.3 General meetings shall be chaired by the duly authorised representative of the Owner.  

26.4 A resolution put to the vote of a general meeting will be decided on a show of hands. 

26.5 Each Owner, present in person or by proxy, whether an individual or an organisation, shall have one 
vote. 

26.6 A person is able to exercise the right to vote at a general meeting when: 

26.6.1 that person is able to vote, during the meeting, on resolutions put to the vote at the meeting; 
and 

26.6.2 that person’s vote can be taken into account in determining whether or not such resolutions 
are passed at the same time as the votes of all the other persons attending the meeting. 

26.7 The Directors may make whatever arrangements they consider appropriate to enable those attending 
a general meeting to exercise their rights to speak or vote at it.  

26.8 A person is able to exercise the right to speak at a general meeting when that person is in a position 
to communicate to all those attending the meeting, during the meeting, any information or opinions 
which that person has on the business of the meeting. 

26.9 Directors may attend and speak at general meetings. 

26.10 The chair of the meeting may permit other persons who are not: 

26.10.1 appointed representatives of the sole Owner; or 

26.10.2 otherwise entitled to exercise the rights of the sole Owner in relation to general meetings, 
to attend and speak at a general meeting. 

69



 

11 
35538009-1 

27 ERRORS AND DISPUTES 

27.1 No objection may be raised to the qualification of any person voting at a general meeting except at the 
meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is tendered, and every vote not disallowed 
at the meeting is valid. 

27.2 Any such objection must be referred to the chair of the meeting, whose decision is final. 

28 AMENDMENTS TO RESOLUTIONS 

28.1 An ordinary resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended by ordinary resolution 
if: 

28.1.1 notice of the proposed amendment is given to the Company in writing by a person entitled 
to vote at the general meeting at which it is to be proposed not less than 48 hours before 
the meeting is to take place (or such later time as the chair of the meeting may determine); 
and  

28.1.2 the proposed amendment does not, in the reasonable opinion of the chair of the meeting, 
materially alter the scope of the resolution. 

28.2 A special resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended by ordinary resolution, if: 

28.2.1 the chair of the meeting proposes the amendment at the general meeting at which the 
resolution is to be proposed; and 

28.2.2 the amendment does not go beyond what is necessary to correct a grammatical or other 
non-substantive error in the resolution. 

28.3 If the chair of the meeting, acting in good faith, wrongly decides that an amendment to a resolution is 
out of order, the chair of the meeting's error does not invalidate the vote on that resolution. 

29 WRITTEN RESOLUTIONS 

29.1 A resolution in writing agreed by a simple majority (or in the case of a special resolution by a majority 
of not less than 75%) of the Owners who would have been entitled to vote upon it had it been proposed 
at a general meeting shall be effective provided that: 

29.1.1 a copy of the proposed resolution has been sent to every eligible Owner; 

29.1.2 a simple majority (or in the case of a special resolution a majority of not less than 75%) of 
Owners has signified its agreement to the resolution; and 

29.1.3 it is contained in an authenticated document which has been received at the registered 
office within the period of 28 days beginning with the circulation date. 

29.2 A resolution in writing may comprise several copies to which one or more Owners have signified their 
agreement. 

29.3 In the case of an Owner that is an organisation, its authorised representative may signify its agreement. 

30 MEANS OF COMMUNICATION TO BE USED 

30.1 Subject to these articles, anything sent or supplied by or to the Company under these articles may be 
sent or supplied in any way in which the Companies Acts provides for documents or information which 
are authorised or required by any provision of that Act to be sent or supplied by or to the Company. 

70



 

12 
35538009-1 

30.2 Subject to these articles, any notice or document to be sent or supplied to a Director in connection 
with the taking of decisions by Directors may also be sent or supplied by the means by which that 
Director has asked to be sent or supplied with such notices or documents for the time being. 

30.3 Any notice to be given to or by any person pursuant to these articles: 

30.3.1 must be in writing; or 

30.3.2 must be given in electronic form. 

30.4 The Company may give any notice to the Owner either: 

30.4.1 personally; or 

30.4.2 by sending it by post in a prepaid envelope addressed to the Owner at the Owner's address; 
or 

30.4.3 by leaving it at the address of the Owner; or  

30.4.4 by giving it in electronic form to the Owner’s address; or 

30.4.5 by placing the notice on a website and providing the person with a notification in writing or 
in electronic form of the presence of the notice on the website.  The notification must state 
that it concerns a notice of a company meeting and must specify the place date and time 
of the meeting. 

30.5 An Owner who does not register an address with the Company or who registers only a postal address 
that is not within the United Kingdom shall not be entitled to receive any notice from the Company. 

30.6 An Owner present in person at any meeting of the Company shall be deemed to have received notice 
of the meeting and of the purposes for which it was called. 

30.7   

30.7.1 Proof that an envelope containing a notice was properly addressed, prepaid and posted 
shall be conclusive evidence that the notice was given. 

30.7.2 Proof that an electronic form of notice was given shall be conclusive where the Company 
can demonstrate that it was properly addressed and sent, in accordance with section 1147 
of the Companies Act 2006. 

30.7.3 In accordance with section 1147 of the Companies Act 2006 notice shall be deemed to be 
given: 

(a) 48 hours after the envelope containing it was posted; or  

(b) in the case of an electronic form of communication, 48 hours after it was sent. 

31 COMPANY SEALS 

31.1 Any common seal may only be used by the authority of the Directors. 

31.2 The Directors may decide by what means and in what form any common seal is to be used. 

31.3 Unless otherwise decided by the Directors, if the Company has a common seal and it is affixed to a 
document, the document must also be signed by at least one authorised person in the presence of a 
witness who attests the signature. 

31.4 For the purposes of this article, an authorised person is: 

71



 

13 
35538009-1 

31.4.1 any Director of the Company; 

31.4.2 the company secretary (if any); or 

31.4.3 any person authorised by the Directors for the purpose of signing documents to which the 
common seal is applied. 

32 INDEMNITY 

32.1 The Company may indemnify any relevant officer out of the assets of the Company from and against 
any loss, liability or expense incurred by him or them in relation to the Company (including any liability 
incurred in connection with the activities of the Company or an associated company in its capacity as 
a trustee of an occupational pension scheme (as defined in section 235(6) of the Companies Act 
2006)) provided that this article shall have effect, and any indemnity provided by or pursuant to it shall 
apply, only to the extent permitted by, and subject to the restrictions of, the Companies Act 2006.  This 
article does not allow for or provide (to any extent) an indemnity which is more extensive than as 
permitted by the Companies Act 2006 and any such indemnity is limited accordingly.  This article is 
also without prejudice to any indemnity to which any person may otherwise be entitled.   

32.2 To the extent permitted by, and subject to the restrictions in, the Companies Act 2006 and without 
prejudice to any indemnity to which he may otherwise be entitled, the Directors shall have the power 
to provide funds to meet any expenditure incurred or to be incurred by any relevant officer in defending 
any criminal or civil (including regulatory) proceedings, or in connection with an application under the 
Companies Act 2006, or to enable him to avoid incurring such expenditure. 

32.3 Without prejudice to the provisions of article 33, the Directors may exercise all the powers of the 
Company to purchase and maintain insurance for the benefit of any person who is a relevant officer 
or an employee or former employee of the Company or any associated company or who is or was a 
trustee of a retirement benefits scheme or another trust in which a relevant officer or an employee or 
former employee is or has been interested, indemnifying him against liability for negligence, default, 
breach of duty or breach of trust or any other liability which may lawfully be insured against by the 
Company. 

32.4 In these articles:  

32.4.1 companies are associated if one is a subsidiary of the other or both are subsidiaries of the 
same body corporate; and  

32.4.2 relevant officer means any current or former Director, secretary or other officer of the 
Company or an associated company (including any company which is a trustee of an 
occupational pension scheme (as defined in section 235(6) of the Companies Act 2006)), 
other than any person (whether an officer or not) engaged by the Company (or associated 
company) as an auditor, to the extent he acts as an auditor. 

33 INSURANCE 

33.1 The Directors may decide to purchase and maintain insurance, at the expense of the Company, for 
the benefit of any relevant Director in respect of any relevant loss. 

33.2 In this article: 

33.2.1 a relevant Director means any Director or former Director of the Company or an 
associated company; and  

33.2.2 a relevant loss means any loss or liability which has been or may be incurred by a relevant 
Director in connection with that Director’s duties or powers in relation to the Company, any 
associated company or any pension fund or employees’ share scheme of the Company or 
associated company; and 

72



 

14 
35538009-1 

33.2.3 companies are associated if one is a subsidiary of the other or both are subsidiaries of the 
same body corporate. 

 

73



This page is intentionally left blank



 

© Bevan Brittan LLP 
 
Toronto Square – 7th Floor | Toronto Street | Leeds LS1 2HJ 
T 0370 194 1000 F 0370 194 5465 
 
Fleet Place House | 2 Fleet Place | Holborn Viaduct | London EC4M 7RF 
T 0370 194 1000 F 0370 194 7800 
 
Kings Orchard | 1 Queen Street | Bristol BS2 0HQ 
T 0370 194 1000 F 0370 194 1001 
 
Interchange Place | Edmund Street | Birmingham B3 2TA 
T 0370 194 1000 F 0370 194 5001 
 
www.bevanbrittan.com 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Dated 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

LEISURESK LIMITED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
MEMBER'S AGREEMENT 

in relation to LeisureSK Limited 
 

 

75

Appendix 3



 

 

 

Contents 

Item Page 

 

PARTIES 1 

INTRODUCTION 1 

AGREED TERMS 1 

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 1 

2 BUSINESS AND BUSINESS PLAN 3 

3 OWNER'S ROLE 4 

4 CONDUCT OF THE COMPANY'S AFFAIRS 4 

5 TERMINATION 6 

6 CONFIDENTIALITY, FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND DATA PROTECTION 6 

7 NO PARTNERSHIP 7 

8 CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999 7 

9 COSTS OF THIS AGREEMENT 7 

10 WAIVER 7 

11 VARIATION 7 

12 INVALIDITY 7 

13 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 8 

14 STATUS OF THIS AGREEMENT 8 

15 CONSENTS 8 

16 COMMUNICATIONS 8 

17 COUNTERPARTS 9 

18 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 9 

SCHEDULE 1 - OWNER CONSENT MATTERS 10 

  
 
 

76



 

1 
35537425-1 

MEMBER'S AGREEMENT dated     2020 
 
PARTIES 

(1) SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL of Council Offices, St. Peter's Hill, Grantham NG31 6PZ 
(the Owner). 

(2) LEISURESK LIMITED (company no 12888724) whose registered office is at Council Offices, St. 
Peter's Hill, Grantham NG31 6PZ (the Company). 

INTRODUCTION 

(A) The Company was incorporated on 18 September 2020 and, at the date of this Agreement, the Owner 
is the sole member of the Company.   

(B) The Company has been established for the purpose of, amongst other things, providing leisure, sports 
and cultural facilities and services.  

(C) This Agreement sets out the terms upon which the Owner will participate in the Company as its sole 
member and the terms upon which the Council will retain decisive influence over both the strategic 
objectives and the significant decisions of the Company.  

AGREED TERMS 

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 In this Agreement: 

 Articles means the articles of association of the Company 

 Business means the business of the Company as set out in clause 2 

 Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which the banks in the City of 
London are open for business 

 CA2006 means the Companies Act 2006 

 Data Protection Legislation means all legislation and regulatory requirements in force from time to 
time relating to the protection and handling of personal data and the privacy of electronic 
communications, including, without limitation (i) any data protection legislation from time to time in 
force in the UK including the Data Protection Act 2018 or any successor legislation, as well as (ii) the 
General Data Protection Regulation ((EU) 2016/679) and any other directly applicable European Union 
regulation relating to data protection and privacy (for so long as and to the extent that the law of the 
European Union has legal effect in the UK) 

 Director means a director of the Company 

 Environmental Information Regulations means the Environmental Regulations 2004 

 FOIA means the Freedom of Information Act 2000 

 Information has the meaning given to it under section 84 of the FOIA 

 Owner Consent means the prior written consent of the Owner  

 Owner Consent Matters means those matters listed in Schedule 1 

77



 

2 
35537425-1 

 Owner Representative means the person nominated by the Owner from time to time to act as its 
authorised representative which shall be determined by the Owner in accordance with its constitution 
from time to time and notified to the Company in writing 

 Remuneration Policy means a policy adopted by the Company (following receipt of Owner Consent) 
in relation to the provision of remuneration (including salary, bonus, the provision of benefits-in-kind 
or otherwise) for employees, officers and consultants 

 Request for Information has the meaning set out in the FOIA or any apparent request for information 
made under the FOIA 

 Subsidiary has the meaning given in the CA2006 

 Teckal means the codified rule of EU procurement law as set out within Directive 2014/24/EU and 
Regulation 12 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, deriving from the Teckal case (Teckal Srl v 
Comune de Viano and Azienda Gas-Acqua Consorziale (AGAC) di Reggio Emilia (C-107/98) [1999] 
ECR I-8121) pursuant to which the requirement for open advertisement and tendering for public 
contracts in accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 does not apply 

 United Kingdom means the geographical area of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern 
Ireland as at the date of this Agreement 

1.2 A reference to a statutory provision includes a reference to: 

1.2.1 a statutory amendment, consolidation or re-enactment (whether before or after the date of 
this Agreement); 

1.2.2 statutory instruments or subordinate legislation (as defined in section 21(1) of the 
Interpretation Act 1978) or orders made under the statutory provision (whether made before 
or after the date of this Agreement); and 

1.2.3 statutory provisions of which the statutory provision is an amendment, consolidation or re-
enactment. 

1.3 Reference to: 

1.3.1 a person includes a legal or natural person, partnership, trust, company, government or 
local authority department or other body (whether corporate or unincorporate); 

1.3.2 a statutory or regulatory body shall include its successors and any substituted body; 

1.3.3 an individual includes, where appropriate, his personal representatives; 

1.3.4 the singular includes the plural and vice versa; and 

1.3.5 one gender includes all genders. 

1.4 Unless otherwise stated, a reference to a clause or Schedule is a reference to a clause of or schedule 
to this Agreement and a reference to this Agreement includes its Schedules. 

1.5 Clause headings in this Agreement are for ease of reference only and do not affect its construction. 

1.6 In construing this Agreement the so-called ejusdem generis rule does not apply and accordingly the 
interpretation of general words shall not be restricted by words indicating a particular class or particular 
examples. 

1.7 For the purposes of this Agreement Party means a party to this Agreement and reference to Parties 
shall be to all or more than one of them as applicable. 

78



 

3 
35537425-1 

1.8 A reference to writing or written includes email but not fax. 

1.9 A reference to any agreement or document (or any provision of it) referred to in the Articles is a 
reference to that agreement or document (or the relevant provision of it) as varied, amended or 
supplemented (in each case, other than in breach of the provisions of that agreement or document) 
from time to time. 

1.10 Any words following the terms including, include, in particular, for example or any similar 
expression shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit the sense of the words, description, 
definition, phrase or term preceding those terms. 

1.11 A reference to an amendment includes a novation, re-enactment, supplement or variation (and 
amended shall be construed accordingly). 

1.12 A reference to determines or determined means, unless the contrary is indicated, a determination 
made at the absolute discretion of the person making it.  

2 BUSINESS AND BUSINESS PLAN 

2.1 The Business of the Company shall be:  

2.1.1 to provide leisure, sports and cultural facilities and services; 

2.1.2 to liaise and co-operate with all interested groups within the community to develop and 
deliver this service; 

2.1.3 to promote and enter into partnerships or arrangements of all kinds to improve or extend 
the facilities and services offered; 

2.1.4 to explore all avenues of funding and finance for such services; 

2.1.5 to improve health and well-being through a range of outcomes, including reduced obesity, 
reduced anti-social behaviour and narrowing the health inequality gap; 

2.1.6 to increase jobs, strengthening the local economy and enable children, young people and 
adults to learn and be ready for work; 

2.1.7 to carry on any other trade or business which in the opinion of the Directors is in the best 
interest of the Company; and 

2.1.8 without prejudice to the activities listed above, to carry on any trade or business of a general 
commercial company, 

together with any activities reasonably incidental to the above or activities from time to time. 

2.2 The Parties intend that the Company shall at all times be a Teckal-compliant company.     

2.3 The Company shall deliver to the Owner by no later than 31st January (or such other date as may be 
agreed between the Parties) its draft business plan and budget for the following financial year in a 
form approved by the Owner.  

2.4 The Owner will use reasonable endeavours to respond no later than 1 month after (or such later date 
as may be agreed between the Parties) with any issues of concern with the draft business plan and 
budget, and the Company shall make such amendments to its draft business plan and budget as the 
Owner may reasonably require.   

2.5 The Owner shall notify the Company of the reasons for raising issues of concern with its draft business 
plan and budget and the Owner and the Company will endeavour to work together to agree a revised 
business plan and budget for approval by the Owner as soon as possible.  Until such issues are 

79



 

4 
35537425-1 

resolved the business plan and budget shall not become the Company's business plan and budget for 
the purposes of this Agreement and the preceding year’s business plan and budget shall continue to 
have effect unless the Parties agree otherwise. 

2.6 The Company covenants to carry on the Business in accordance with and only to enter into 
commitments as envisaged by the business plan and budget then in force or where any matter is 
outside the business plan and budget with Owner Consent.  

2.7 The Company shall not introduce a new or amend an existing Remuneration Policy to allow for the 
payment of a Director or Directors without Owner Consent.    

3 OWNER'S ROLE  

3.1 The Owner will monitor and control the Business and affairs of the Company through the Owner 
Consent Matters, through receiving periodic reports, through its Directors and through ad hoc 
information requests.  

3.2 The Owner: 

3.2.1 shall have unlimited, unrestricted and prompt access to any Company information and 
documents requested pursuant to this Agreement; 

3.2.2 will not usurp the functions of the Directors but will monitor the activities of the Company to 
ensure that they are acceptable and accountable to the Owner as ultimate owner of the 
Company; and 

3.2.3 may, in addition to those matters requiring Owner Consent: 

(a) make recommendations from time to time to the Directors; and/or  

(b) give directions by notice in writing from time to time to the Directors. 

3.3 Any notice to or from the Owner shall be sent to or from the Owner Representative.  Where a consent 
or approval is expressed in this Agreement to be required of the Owner (including Owner Consent), it 
shall be given by the Owner Representative.  Such consent or approval shall be given in writing in 
advance of the decision or matter requiring consent or approval and the Owner shall use its reasonable 
endeavours to communicate any such decision, consent or approval (including any decision not to 
give consent or approval) to the Company within a period of 20 Business Days from receipt of the 
request provided that the Owner shall not be deemed to have made a decision or given its consent or 
approval by virtue of the fact that it has not communicated the same within that time limit.  Where the 
Company requires the Owner to make any decision or provide any consent or approval, the Company 
shall provide such material information as the Owner may require to enable it to consider the decision, 
consent or approval in question. 

3.4 Once a consent or approval is given in accordance with clause 3.3 then, to the extent a special or an 
ordinary resolution is required pursuant to the CA2006 or otherwise, and the form of consent or 
approval doesn't already take the form of such a special or ordinary resolution, the Company shall 
prepare and circulate to the Owner a draft resolution for consideration and, if thought fit, approval by 
the Owner.  The Owner shall approve any resolution which is in line with a consent or approval 
previously given.   

3.5 The Company shall ensure that the Directors and and/or any employees of the Company as requested 
by the Owner shall attend such meetings or parts of meeting(s) of the Owner as the Owner may require 
and shall answer questions put by the Owner and provide information regarding the activities of the 
Company as reasonably requested.   

4 CONDUCT OF THE COMPANY'S AFFAIRS 

4.1 Meetings of the Directors shall be held no less than four times in every year and at not more than three 
monthly intervals.   

80



 

5 
35537425-1 

4.2 With the exception of the Owner Consent Matters, the management of the Company shall be vested 
in the Directors.  The Company shall ensure that no Owner Consent Matters shall be carried out 
without Owner Consent. 

4.3 The Directors may, with Owner Consent, appoint a chief executive/managing director on such terms 
as they may think fit who shall be responsible for the day to day management of the Business within 
the terms of the business plan and budget then in force and this Agreement, and perform such duties 
as may be delegated to him by the Directors.  The Directors may also remove such managing director, 
and appoint a replacement, in each case on such terms as they may think fit, providing that no 
appointment or removal shall be made without Owner Consent.   

4.4 The Directors will determine the general policies of the Company and the manner in which the 
Business is to be carried out, subject to: 

4.4.1 the business plan and the budget then in force; 

4.4.2 those matters requiring Owner Consent; and 

4.4.3 any other express provisions of this Agreement.   

4.5 In particular, but without limitation, the Directors shall exercise all voting rights and other powers of 
control available to them in relation to the Company so as to procure (in so far as they are able in the 
exercise of such rights and power) that, at all times during the term of this Agreement, the Company 
shall: 

4.5.1 carry on and conduct the Business and affairs in a proper and efficient manner, for its own 
benefit and in accordance with the business plan and budget and good business practices; 
and 

4.5.2 transact all its business on arm's length terms. 

4.6 The Company shall not carry out any activity which would render the Owner's membership of the 
Company unlawful provided that where a proposed change of law would render such membership 
unlawful the Owner will use its reasonable endeavours to take such steps as are necessary to allow it 
to continue lawfully to be a member of the Company. 

4.7 The Company will, if it requires any approval, consent or licence for the carrying on of its Business in 
the manner in which it is from time to time carried on or proposed to be carried on, obtain and maintain 
the same in full force and effect. 

4.8 The Company shall permit any Director to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Company 
and its Subsidiaries with the Owner’s designated officers and executives at any time.  All books, 
records, accounts and documents relating to the Business and the affairs of the Company shall be 
open to the inspection of any such person, who shall be entitled to make any copies thereof as he or 
she deems appropriate to keep the Owner properly informed about the Business and affairs of the 
Company or to protect its interests as Owner.  Any information secured as a consequence of such 
discussions and inspections shall be kept confidential by the Owner and its designated officers and 
executives in accordance with the terms of clause 6. 

4.9 The Company agrees with the Owner that it will maintain effective and appropriate control systems in 
relation to the financial, accounting and record-keeping functions of the Company and will generally 
keep the Owner informed of the progress of the Business and affairs and in particular will procure that 
the Owner is given such information and such access to the officers, employees and premises of the 
Company as it may reasonably require for the purposes of enabling it to monitor its investment and 
interest in the Company. 

4.10 The Company shall not breach nor cause the Owner to be in breach of the Local Authorities 
(Companies) Order 1995. 

81



 

6 
35537425-1 

5 TERMINATION 

5.1 This Agreement shall terminate upon: 

5.1.1 the written agreement of the Parties in accordance with the terms agreed; or 

5.1.2 when a resolution is passed by the Owner or creditors of the Company, or any order made 
by a court or other competent body or person instituting a process that shall lead to the 
Company being wound up and its assets being distributed among the creditors, Owner or 
other contributors; or 

5.1.3 the Company ceasing to carry on its Business; or 

5.1.4 the Company being convicted of a criminal offence; or 

5.1.5 upon the Owner giving not less than 3 months’ written notice of the date on which this 
Agreement will terminate. 

6 CONFIDENTIALITY, FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND DATA PROTECTION 

6.1 Each Party undertakes that it shall not at any time disclose to any person any confidential information 
concerning the business, affairs, customers, clients or suppliers of the other Party except as permitted 
by clause 6.2. 

6.2 Each Party may disclose the other Party's confidential information: 

6.2.1 to its employees, officers, representatives or advisers who need to have such information 
for the purposes of carrying out the Party's obligations under this Agreement.  Each Party 
shall ensure that its employees, officers, representatives or advisers to whom it discloses 
the other Party's confidential information comply with this clause 6; or 

6.2.2 as may be required by law, court order or any governmental or regulatory authority. 

6.3 Each Party acknowledges that the other Party is subject to the requirements of the FOIA and the 
Environmental Information Regulations, and shall facilitate the other Party's compliance with its 
Information disclosure requirements pursuant to and in the manner provided for in clauses 6.4-6.7. 

6.4 If either Party (the Recipient) receives a Request for Information in relation to Information that the 
other Party is holding and which the Recipient does not hold itself, the Recipient shall within 6 Business 
Days of receiving a Request for Information: 

6.4.1 respond to the Request for Information explaining that that the other Party shall be 
responding within the required timeframe; and 

6.4.2 refer the Request for Information to the other Party explaining that the other Party is holding 
the relevant Information and that the Request for Information must be met by the other 
Party within the required timeframe. 

6.5 The Recipient shall provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the other Party to 
enable the other Party to respond to the Request for Information within the time for compliance set out 
in Section 10 of the FOIA or Regulation 5 of the Environmental Information Regulations. 

6.6 The Parties acknowledge that (notwithstanding the provisions of clause 6.1) a Recipient may, acting 
in accordance with the Freedom of Information Code of Practice 2018 and the Regulation 16 Code of 
Practice on the discharge of the obligations of public authorities under the EIR (as appropriate) 
disclose Information concerning the other Party: 

6.6.1 in certain circumstances without consulting with the other Party; or 

82



 

7 
35537425-1 

6.6.2 following consultation with the other Party and having taken their views into account. The 
Recipient shall have absolute discretion as to whether Information is exempt from 
disclosure under the FOIA and the Environmental Information Regulations and whether 
Information is to be disclosed in response to a Request for Information. 

6.7 Each Party shall transfer to the other Party any Request for Information which it receives but is 
addressed to the other Party as soon as practicable and in any event within 6 Business Days of 
receiving it. 

6.8 The Parties acknowledge that any lists provided which itemise or outline confidential information are 
of indicative value only and that a Recipient may nevertheless be obliged to disclose confidential 
information in accordance with this clause 6. 

6.9 The Parties shall comply with all Data Protection Legislation at all times when carrying out their 
respective obligations pursuant to this Agreement and any other agreement to which it is a party. 

7 NO PARTNERSHIP 

7.1 Nothing in this Agreement gives rise to a partnership between the Parties or constitutes one Party 
acting as the agent of the other. 

8 CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999 

8.1 Unless the right of enforcement is expressly granted, it is not intended that a third party, other than a 
lawful successor in title or a lawful assignee, should have the right to enforce a provision of this 
Agreement pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.  The Parties may rescind or 
vary this Agreement without the consent of a third party to whom an express right to enforce any of its 
terms has been provided. 

9 COSTS OF THIS AGREEMENT 

9.1 Each Party shall pay its own costs in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution and 
performance of this Agreement. 

10 WAIVER 

10.1 The rights of each of the Parties in respect of a breach of this Agreement shall not be affected by 
completing, rescinding, or failing to rescind, this Agreement, or failing to exercise, or delaying to 
exercise, a right or remedy, or by anything else, except a specifically authorised written waiver or 
release.  A single or partial exercise of a right or remedy provided by this Agreement or by law does 
not prevent its further exercise or the exercise of another right or remedy. 

10.2 Waiver of a breach of a term of this Agreement, or of a default under it, does not constitute a waiver 
of another breach or default nor affect the other terms of this Agreement. 

10.3 The rights and remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any other 
rights or remedies. 

11 VARIATION 

11.1 A purported variation of this Agreement is not effective unless in writing and signed by or on behalf of 
each of the Parties. 

12 INVALIDITY 

12.1 If a provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal or unenforceable, in whole or in part, under an 
enactment or rule of law, it shall to that extent be deemed not to form part of this Agreement and the 
enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected.  The Parties agree to negotiate 

83



 

8 
35537425-1 

in good faith to agree the terms of a mutually satisfactory provision to be substituted for the provision 
found to be illegal or unenforceable. 

13 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

13.1 This Agreement (together with any documents entered into under it or at the same time as it) 
supersedes all prior understandings and agreements between the Parties (whether written or oral) 
relating to its subject-matter and contains the entire agreement between the Parties relating to its 
subject-matter. 

13.2 Each Party acknowledges that it does not enter into this Agreement on the basis of, and does not rely 
on, warranties or representations made, or agreed to, by any person (whether a party to this 
Agreement or not). 

13.3 Each Party waives its rights against the other in respect of warranties and representations (whether 
written or oral) not expressly set out or referred to in this Agreement. 

13.4 Nothing in this clause 13 limits or excludes liability for fraud. 

14 STATUS OF THIS AGREEMENT 

14.1 In the event of any ambiguity or discrepancy between the provisions of this Agreement and the Articles, 
then it is the intention of the Owner that the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail.  Accordingly, 
the Owner shall take all such steps and do all such acts and things as may be necessary or desirable, 
including, without limitation, exercising all voting and other rights and powers of control available to it 
in relation to the Company, so as to give effect to the provisions of this Agreement and shall further if 
necessary procure (insofar as it is able to do so by the exercise of those rights and powers) any 
required amendment to the Articles. 

15 CONSENTS 

15.1 Consents, notices, approvals or agreements to be given by the Owner under this Agreement (including 
Owner Consent) shall be given in writing. 

15.2 Where this Agreement provides that a matter is subject to the consent, approval or agreement of either 
Party then (except as expressly provided otherwise), it shall be in the absolute discretion of that Party 
as to whether (and if so, on what terms and conditions) the consent, approval or agreement is made. 

16 COMMUNICATIONS 

16.1 Any notice or other communication under or in connection with this Agreement shall be in writing and 
shall be delivered personally or sent by first-class post or by email as follows: 

16.1.1 if to the Owner, to: 

Address: [Insert]    

Email: [Insert]         

marked for the attention of [Insert]; and  

16.1.2 if to the Company, to: 

Address: [Insert]  

Email: [Insert]  

marked for the attention of [Insert], 

84



 

9 
35537425-1 

or to such other person, address, or email as any Party may specify by notice in writing to the other. 

16.2 In the absence of evidence of earlier receipt, any notice or other communication shall be deemed to 
have been duly given: 

16.2.1 if delivered personally, when left at the address referred to in clause 16.1; 

16.2.2 if sent by mail, other than airmail, two Business Days after posting it; 

16.2.3 if sent by email, when sent and there has been no communication by the recipient to the 
sender that the email has not been received, 

provided always that a notice given in accordance with the above but received on a day which is not 
a Business Day or after business hours on a Business Day will only be deemed to be given on the 
next Business Day. 

17 COUNTERPARTS 

17.1 This Agreement may be executed in counterparts and by the Parties on different counterparts, but 
shall not be effective until each Party has executed at least one counterpart.  Each counterpart, when 
executed, shall be an original, but all the counterparts together constitute the same document. 

18 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

18.1 This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the Parties shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of England and Wales. 

18.2 The Parties irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales in 
respect of any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or any of the 
documents to be executed pursuant to this Agreement or their subject-matter or formation (including 
non-contractual disputes or claims). 

18.3 This Agreement has been executed as a deed and delivered on the date stated at the beginning of 
this Agreement. 

 
  
 

85



 

10 
35537425-1 

SCHEDULE 1 - OWNER CONSENT MATTERS  

 
The Company shall not without Owner Consent: 
 
1 vary in any respect its Articles. 

2 permit the registration of any person as a member of the Company other than the Owner in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement. 

3 issue any loan capital or enter into any commitment with any person with respect to the issue of any 
loan capital. 

4 make any borrowing. 

5 pass any resolution for its winding up or present any petition for its administration (unless it has 
become insolvent). 

6 engage in any business other than as contemplated by the business plan and budget or defray any 
monies other than in good faith for the purposes of or in connection with the carrying on of such 
business. 

7 form any Subsidiary or acquire shares in any other company or participate in any partnership or joint 
venture (incorporated or not). 

8 close down any business operation, or dispose of or dilute its interest in any Subsidiary for the time 
being, or dispose of any material asset, unless in each case such closure or disposal is expressly 
contemplated by the business plan and budget. 

9 amalgamate or merge with any other company or business undertaking. 

10 alter its name or registered office. 

11 enter into any transaction or arrangement of any nature whatsoever (including, for the avoidance of 
doubt, a service contract) with any of its Directors or any person who is connected (within the meaning 
of sections 1122 and 1123 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010) to any of its Directors, whether or not any 
other person shall be party to such transaction or arrangement. 

12 enter into any arrangement, contract or transaction outside the normal course of its business or 
otherwise than on arm's length terms. 

13 enter into, as lessor or as lessee, any finance lease if doing so would mean that the aggregate value 
of such arrangements entered into exceeds £20,000. 

14 create or permit to be created any mortgage, charge, encumbrance or other security interest 
whatsoever on any material asset or its business in whole or in part other than liens arising in the 
ordinary course of business. 

15 adopt or amend its annual business plan or budget. 

16 change either its statutory auditors or its financial year end. 

17 make or permit to be made any material change in the accounting policies and principles adopted by 
the Company in the preparation of its audited accounts except as may be required to ensure 
compliance with relevant accounting standards under the CA2006 or any other generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United Kingdom. 

86



 

11 
35537425-1 

18 make any loan (otherwise than by way of deposit with a bank or other institution the normal business 
of which includes the acceptance of deposits) or grant any credit, guarantee or indemnity (other than 
in the normal course of trading). 

19 give any guarantee, suretyship or indemnity to secure the liability of any person or assume the 
obligations of any person outside the scope of its business plan and budget. 

20 establish or amend any profit-sharing, bonus or other incentive scheme of any nature for Directors, 
officers or employees. 

21 establish or amend any pension scheme or grant any pension rights to any Director, officer, employee, 
former director, officer or employee, or any member of any such person's family. 

22 dismiss or appoint any Director. 

23 dismiss or appoint any chief executive/managing director. 

24 adopt or amend its Remuneration Policy to in relation to Directors or staff. 

25 agree to remunerate (by payment of salary, bonus, the provision of benefits-in-kind or otherwise) or to 
increase the remuneration of any employee, officer of or consultant to the Company unless the annual 
aggregate amount of such remuneration (by payment of salary, bonus, the provision of benefits-in-
kind or otherwise) is in accordance with the Company's current Remuneration Policy or expressly 
referred to in the business plan and budget. 

26 institute, settle or compromise any material legal proceedings (other than debt recovery proceedings 
in the ordinary course of business or where the value of such claim is less than £10,000) instituted or 
threatened against it or submit to arbitration or alternative dispute resolution any dispute if the effect 
of this is that its solvency may be imperilled, or it may require additional funding in order to deliver its 
business plan and budget. 

27 make any agreement with any revenue or tax authorities or make any claim, disclaimer, election or 
consent for tax purposes in relation to the Company or its business if the effect of this is that its 
solvency may be imperilled, or it may require additional funding in order to deliver its business plan 
and budget. 

28 acquire any land. 

29 enter into any contract with a value in excess of £50,000.   

  

87



 

12 
35537425-1 

 
  
 
In witness whereof the parties have executed this Agreement as a deed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Common Seal of the  )  
SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL )  
was hereunto affixed in the presence of: )   
 ) Authorised signatory 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Executed as a deed by )  
LEISURESK LIMITED )  
acting by a director in the presence of: )   
 ) Director 

Witness signature:   

Name:   

Address:   

   

   
 
 

88



 

 

P a g e  | 1 

 

 
 
LeisureSK   
 
Non - Executive Director’s (NED’S) 
Recruitment Pack 
(Please note that this is a paid role of £15,000 per annum)  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

89

A
ppendix 4

https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=7nXEKusB&id=A75D3806FDA539776A3B6EAE6553BF80FDC03065&thid=OIP.7nXEKusBXtE7SAVk19IVKAHaEx&mediaurl=https%3a%2f%2fwww.1life.co.uk%2fapp%2fuploads%2fsites%2f42%2f2018%2f06%2fEAM-101-1184x764.jpg&exph=764&expw=1184&q=grantham+meres+leisure+centre+images&simid=608011367504021207&ck=EB71494452252C4D516253FA86CD5DEA&selectedIndex=0&FORM=IRPRST
https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=v3Mdwojw&id=528007A92F2EA21E51829EE7F0A826404B92C053&thid=OIP.v3MdwojwYfO7mTpIxzIknQHaEK&mediaurl=https%3a%2f%2fwww.stamfordmercury.co.uk%2f_media%2fimg%2fWW32N6P90MADEBQM69ZD.jpg&exph=720&expw=1279&q=stamford+leisure+centre+images&simid=608016950804808497&ck=26C31D94536B5A67C263D336D7FE69A4&selectedIndex=9&FORM=IRPRST
https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=4eTRil29&id=C2FD61B303DFC3B6FA96056CF6BE1754021B0BB9&thid=OIP.4eTRil295c9NukwtdGp_lgAAAA&mediaurl=https%3a%2f%2fthreebestrated.co.uk%2fimages%2fDeepingsLeisureCentre-Peterborough-UK-1.jpeg&exph=250&expw=350&q=deepings+leisure+centre+images&simid=608015224375085538&ck=08AACD91E9D3A8FAE0C46409BF2B1F19&selectedIndex=4&FORM=IRPRST


 

 

P a g e  | 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Contents  
 
 
1. Covering letter 
 
2. Background 
 
3. Reporting Structure and governance  
 
4. The role of the board and directors  
 
5. Specific Roles and Responsibilities   
 
6. Recruitment Process  
 
7. Generic Job Description & Person Specification  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

90



 

 

P a g e  | 3 

 
1. Covering Letter 
 

Dear applicant, 
 

South Kesteven District Council is setting up LeisureSK as an independent, wholly owned company to run a range of 
sports, leisure and cultural services in South Kesteven. LeisureSK will not be just an operator but is charged with 
transforming participation in sport and culture and making a real difference to people’s lives.  
The company will get more people, more active, more often – in the leisure and cultural activities provided around the 
District.  

 
The full range of services are as follows;   

   

• Grantham Meres Leisure Centre  

• Bourne Leisure Centre 

• Deepings Leisure Centre 

• Stamford Leisure Centre  

We are now at the key stage of setting up our management and governance structure and recruiting the full Board of 
Directors and a Non-Executive Director.  We are therefore seeking people who share our vision and want to help create 
great opportunities for people who live, work and visit the District to take up and enjoy a range of quality sport, fitness and 
cultural activities.    

We are looking for a Non-Executive Director who can help us: 

• To identify and break down barriers to accessing our Leisure facilities in South Kesteven 

• To connect communities in South Kesteven, looking at outreach programmes outside of traditional leisure facilities 

• To reduce social isolation and promote independent living in South Kesteven 

• To improve the physical and emotional wellbeing of residents of South Kesteven through targeted health programmes  

• To facilitate and support the future of Council owned leisure and cultural facilities in South Kesteven 

If you have the skills and commitment to help us succeed, then please do take the time to read our pack.  If you would like 
to talk further, please contact Karen Whitfield, Head of Leisure at South Kesteven District Council.  

91



 

 

P a g e  | 4 

 

I look forward to hearing from you. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

Karen Bradford   
Chief Executive  
South Kesteven District Council  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

92



 

 

P a g e  | 5 

 

 

2. Background 
 

South Kesteven District Council is setting up LeisureSK - a new organisation, which will deliver leisure and cultural 
services for the people who live, work and visit the District. The New Company will be starting trading by the 3rd January 
2021.  

 
The New company will support the Councils Strategic Aim to be the best district in which to work, live and visit.  The 
Council intends to; 
 

• Invest in the health of the district by improving leisure provision and providing sustainable high-quality leisure 
facilities across the district 

• Work effectively with partners in the voluntary, private and public sectors for the benefit of communities 

• Work with partners from all sectors to tackle health, unemployment and other inequalities in areas of highest need 

• Celebrate and enhance the rich history of the district 

• Adopt a sport and physical activity strategy 

• Make the best use of different funding sources to support the voluntary and cultural sector within the district 

• Promote and make progress against the Council’s equality objectives 
 
The Council has set the company a number of strategic goals and objectives to underpin the delivery of the strategic 
purposes as follows; 

 

• To identify and break down barriers to accessing our Leisure facilities in South Kesteven 

• To connect communities, looking at outreach programmes outside of traditional leisure facilities 

• To reduce social isolation and promote independent living in South Kesteven 

• To improve the physical and emotional wellbeing of residents of South Kesteven through targeted health 
programmes  

• To facilitate and support the future of Council owned leisure and cultural facilities in South Kesteven 
 

The success of the company will be assessed by a number of outcomes yet to be confirmed but these are likely to be as 
follows; 

93



 

 

P a g e  | 6 

 

• Increased access for South Kesteven residents of all backgrounds to leisure facilities 

• The residents of South Kesteven will be experience less social isolation 

• The residents of South Kesteven will have better emotional and physical health 

• The Leisure service will thrive for years to come 
 

To help us to achieve these outcomes we’re looking for a high-calibre person to join our team as a Non-Executive 
Member of the Board of Directors to play a leading role in establishing LeisureSK Leisure and drive its growth and 
success. 
 
If you’re up for the challenge, want to make a difference to your community, and have experience in fields like these, then 
we want to hear from you. 

 

• Sports and leisure sector  

• Sales / income generation/ fundraising / marketing 

• Business (especially customer focussed) 

• Communications/media/public relations 

• Financial experience 

• Governance  

• Governance within a voluntary organisation or charitable body  

• Health 

• Human resources  

• ICT experience 

• Leadership / strategic planning 

• Legal experience 

• Property / Construction / Planning  

• Risk management 
 
These will be voluntary positions, although we anticipate that all reasonable expenses will be paid. The expected time 
commitment is a monthly meeting plus some other Board events. Meetings will take place in the Grantham area or be 
virtual. 

 

94



 

 

P a g e  | 7 

 
 
 
3. Reporting Structure and Governance  
 

The Board of Directors will be directly accountable to the Council as the sole shareholder and each year the company will 
hold an Annual General Meeting (AGM) at which directors must provide a report on the performance of the company, 
what its future plans and strategies are and also submit them for re-election to the board. 

 
The objects of the company are defined in the Memorandum of Association and regulations are laid out in the Articles of 
Association.  
 
It is important that the Board of Directors have a positive relationship with the Council. Sound and effective 
communication will be integral to ensuring trust and confidence is built between the Board and the Council. The 
governance structure is as follows; 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

South Kesteven District Council  
 

LeisureSK Board (TBC)  
2 Members to include the Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder 

1 Senior Council Officer 
1 Non-Executive Director  

LeisureSK (TBC)  
Leisure Services Manager 

Employees  

95



 

 

P a g e  | 8 

 
 
 
4. The Role of the Board and Directors  

 
 

Establish vision, mission and values 
 

• Determine the company’s vision and mission to guide and set the pace for its current operations and future 
development 

• Determine the values to be promoted throughout the company 

• Determine and review company goals 

• Determine company policies  
 

Set Strategy and structure  
 

• Review and evaluate strengths, weaknesses, present and future opportunities, threats and risks in the external 
environment. 

• Review and evaluate strengths, weaknesses, present and future opportunities, threats and risks within the company.  

• Determine strategic options 

• Determine the business strategies and plans 

• Ensure that the company’s organisational structure and capability are appropriate for implementing the chosen 
strategies  

 
Delegate to management  

 

• Delegate authority to management, and monitor and evaluate the implementation of policies, strategies and business 
plans 

• Determine monitoring criteria to be used by the board 

• Ensure that internal’ controls are effective  

• Communicate with senior management 
 

96



 

 

P a g e  | 9 

 
 
 

Exercise accountability to shareholders and be responsible to relevant stakeholders  
 

• Ensure that communications both to and from shareholders and relevant stakeholders are effective 

• Understand and take into account the interests of shareholders and relevant stakeholders 

• Monitor relations with shareholders and relevant stakeholders by gathering and evaluation of appropriate information  

• Promote the goodwill and support of shareholders and relevant stakeholders 
 

   Decision Making 
 

• Ensure that high quality documentation is available to make informed decisions 

• Obtain external expert opinions where necessary 

• Allow time for debate and challenge, especially for complex, contentious or business critical issues 

• Provide clarity on actions required, with timescales and responsibilities  

• Pay attention to risk, especially in cases where the levels of risk involved in a project could endanger the stability and 
sustainability of the business itself 

 
Evaluate Performance of the board 
 

• Continually evaluate strengths and also identify areas for improvement  

• Evaluate the quality of documentation produced 

• Evaluate the effectiveness of meetings and key decisions 

• Ensure the directors are regularly upskilled and professionally developed to fulfil their obligations   
 
 
5. Specific Roles and Responsibilities  
 

The NED will be allocated specific roles and responsibilities once recruited. This will be based on the successful 
candidate’s skills and experience.  
 

97



 

 

P a g e  | 10 

6.  Recruitment Process 
 

How to apply 
 

To apply for this role, please submit an up-to-date CV along with the following forms: 
 

• Application header sheet 

• Supporting statement (no more than two sides of A4) outlining how you meet the criteria laid out in the person 
specification. 

• Skills matrix   

• References and declaration  

• Equalities monitoring form 
 

Please confirm you have read the exclusions from eligibility and make a statement confirming your eligibility. 
 

Closing date for applications:  
 

Applications should be submitted by e-mail to: karen.whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk no later than midday on Monday 9th 
November 2020. 
 
 
Shortlist 

 
The founding Directors will produce a shortlist of applicants and invite those shortlisted for an interview. 
 
We will let applicants who are not shortlisted know by email (if they have an email) or by post as soon as possible after the 
closing date.   

 
Appointments 

  
We will take up references on shortlisted applicants.  Other checks may also be carried out.  Candidates will be informed 
of whether they are successful as soon as possible after the interviews.  

 

98

mailto:karen.whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

P a g e  | 11 

The current Directors will be making the appointments with help from its advisors. 
 

Equal opportunities 
 

Equal opportunities will be afforded to all applicants and appointments will be made on merit. 
 
 
 
7. Generic Job Description & Person Specification  
 

    Role purpose and responsibilities 
 

• Overall responsibility for the effective and efficient management of LeisureSK including financial viability in accordance 
with best practice. 

• To formulate, regular reviews and assist in the implementation of the strategic aims of the organisation, and to provide 
direction for its ongoing development, in accordance with its objectives and the terms of its proposed funding and 
management agreements. 

• To ensure that the policy and practices of LeisureSK are in keeping with its aims and strategy. 

• To ensure that LeisureSK functions within the legal and financial requirements of a non-profit distributing company that 
is governed by Company Law, including: 

• Conformance to legal requirements in connection with accounting standards and procedures; 

• The management of financial resources for business operations and exclusively in pursuance of its objects . 

• Protect the assets and integrity of the company           

• Monitor and evaluate LeisureSK operation and performance in line with its Business Plan and strategic aims 

• To fulfil all other duties as laid out by law 

• Act in an advisory capacity/as a mentor where necessary with identified senior management and employees to build 
capacity within LeisureSK 

 
    General responsibilities  
 

• Help shape the LeisureSK vision, strategy, major policies and values always. 

• Contribute specific skills, experience and contacts in support of the Board and the Trust’s activities. 

99



 

 

P a g e  | 12 

• Attend meetings of the Non-Executive Director Board (and appropriate sub-committees) and be active in exercising its 
responsibilities and functions. 

• Reflect the Non-Executive Directors’ policies and concerns in all interactions with employees, customers and partners. 

• Act as a good employer  
 

 
Time commitment 

 
The total time commitment for the role of Non-Executive Director is anticipated to consist of: 

 

• Attendance at one Board meeting per month – approximately two hours in the evening on a day to be selected by the 
Non-Executive Directors, once appointed. 

• Time to read and scrutinise Board papers prior to meetings. 

• Attendance at sub committees of the Board and representing LeisureSK at events. 
(It is likely that there may be a need for more frequent Board meetings in the first part of 2021).  

 
Remuneration 

 
This is a paid role of £15,000 per annum to include any expenses.  
 
 
Person specification 
 

Applications will be evaluated with reference to the following criteria.  
 
 
Experience  

 

• Has significant experience in one or more of the following areas: Sports, Arts and the Culture sector  

• Sales / income generation/ fundraising / marketing 

• Business (especially customer focussed) 

• Communications/media/public relations 

• Education and life-long learning  

100



 

 

P a g e  | 13 

• Financial experience 

• Governance  

• Governance within a voluntary organisation or charitable body  

• Health 

• Human resources  

• ICT experience 

• Leadership / strategic planning 

• Legal experience 

• Property / Construction / Planning  

• Risk management 
 

Skills 
 

• Has a track record of effective decision-making 

• Is willing and able to commit the time and effort to the role 

• Can think strategically, creatively and for the long-term 

• Will be an effective ambassador and ‘influencer’ for the organisation  

• Have experience, preferably at senior level, of management (people and other resources) and/or governance  
(for example as Non-Executive Director or Director of another organisation) 

• Will undertake and accept the legal duties and liabilities of being a Non-Executive Director 

• Can work effectively as a member of a team 

• Is a good communicator with strong interpersonal skills 
 

 
 
Exclusions from eligibility 

 
The following people are excluded from applying for this role: 

 

• ‘Local Authority Persons’: 

• A member of South Kesteven District Council or a person who has been a member of any other Council in the last four 
years; 

101



 

 

P a g e  | 14 

• An officer of the Council holding a managerial position of principal officer grade or above; 

• An employee and either a director, manager, secretary or other similar officer of a company which is under the control of 
the Council. 

• Anyone under 18 years of age at the date of appointment. 

• Anyone who is incapable of managing and administering their own affairs. 

• Anyone who has an unspent conviction relating to any offence involving deception or dishonesty. 

• Anyone who is an undischarged bankrupt, has been bankrupt or has made a composition or arrangement with, or 
granted a trust deed for, their creditors. 

• Anyone subject to or who has been subject to a disqualification order under the Company Directors Disqualification Act 
1986 or to an Order made under section 429(b) of the Insolvency Act 1986. 

• Anyone who has been removed from the office of Non - Executive Director or Trustee for a charity by an Order made by 
the Charity Commissioners or the High Court on the grounds of any misconduct or mismanagement or is subject to an 
Order under section 7 of the Law Reform (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Scotland) Act 1990, preventing them from being 
concerned in the management or control of any relevant organisation or body. 

• Anyone subject to a disqualification Order under the Criminal Justice and Court Services Act 2000. 

• Anyone disqualified under the Protection of Vulnerable Adults List 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

102



Document is Restricted

103

Appendix 5
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Six 

LeisureSK Income & Expenditure Forecast – First two years of Operations 

  Year 1 - Covid-19 Impacted  Year 2 - Assumed no Covid-19 Impact 

  Grantham Bourne Stamford Deepings Central TOTAL  Grantham Bourne Stamford Deepings Central TOTAL 

Income                           

Fitness 392,386 248,464 133,009 223,488  997,347  523,181 326,926 198,521 290,244 0 1,338,873 

Swimming 519,524 240,656 221,140 302,980   1,284,300   692,699 316,652 330,060 393,480 0 1,732,892 

Children 18,048 7,790 3,618 13,384  42,840  24,064 10,250 5,400 17,382 0 57,096 

Indoor 101,696 20,396 1,669 46,687   170,448   135,595 26,836 2,491 60,633 0 225,556 

Outdoor 44,758 0 0 13,012  57,770  59,677 0 0 16,899 0 76,576 

Secondary income 117,421 14,614 16,199 11,183   159,417   156,561 19,229 24,177 14,524 0 214,491 

Income 1,193,833 531,919 375,635 610,735   2,712,123   1,591,777 699,894 560,649 793,163 -   3,645,483 

                            

Cost of sales  (64,425)  (11,715)  (10,069)  (8,980)    (95,189)    (85,900)  (15,415)  (15,029)  (11,662) -    (128,006) 

                            

Gross Profit 1,129,408 520,204 365,566 601,756 -   2,616,933   1,505,877 684,479 545,621 781,501 -   3,517,478 

                            

Staff Costs (630,821) (249,458) (194,875) (231,241) (104,000) (1,410,395)  (852,461) (315,769) (259,834) (308,322) (104,000) (1,840,385) 

Utilities (332,581) (126,092) (120,670) (179,530) 0 (758,873)   (332,581) (126,092) (109,700) (179,530) 0 (747,903) 

Premises (81,245) (45,455) (29,797) (32,321) 0 (188,819)  (84,731) (32,353) (15,050) (32,321) 0 (164,456) 
Marketing & 
Comms (31,836) (13,998) (11,213) (15,863) 0 (72,910)   (31,836) (13,998) (11,213) (15,863) 0 (72,910) 

Admin Costs (192,253) (87,562) (66,765) (84,565) (227,400) (658,544)  (192,253) (87,562) (66,765) (84,565) (227,400) (658,544) 

                            

Surplus / (Deficit)  (139,327)  (2,361)  (57,755) 58,236 
 

(331,400)  (472,607)   12,016 108,705 83,059 160,900 
 

(331,400) 33,280 

                            

NNDR SKDC Payment Change     116,118       116,118 

NNDR SKDC Receipt Change         (232,235)             (232,235) 

20/21 NNDR Holiday @ 25%     29,029       0 

Net NNDR Receipt Change for SKDC       (87,088)             (116,118) 

TOTAL (COST) TO SKDC     (559,696)       (82,838) 

 

119

A
ppendix 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

121

Appendix 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Companies Committee 
21 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Barry Dobson 

  Deputy Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Update on Housing Delivery Partnership 
This paper sets out the latest position with regards to a proposed housing joint venture and sets out 
the recommended next steps to stimulate housing delivery in the District. 

 

Report Author 

Ken Lyon, Assistant Chief Executive 

Tel: 07773 621443 

Email: Ken.Lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 9 October 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 12 October 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Barry Dobson, Deputy Leader of the 
Council 

13 October 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. That Companies Committee notes the contents of this report and that a housing 
partnership is not pursued at this time, but that the development of a partnership is 
considered in the future as part of the Council’s annual review process 

2. That Companies Committee notes that the Council intends to build on the positive 
relationships developed with partners in the housing market to stimulate ongoing 
delivery in South Kesteven 

 

 

 

  

123

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

1 Background 

1.1 On 7 January 2020 a report was presented to Companies Committee that set out the 

Council’s intention to explore the development of a joint venture with the intention of both 

directly delivering and stimulating housing delivery in South Kesteven. Companies 

Committee approved the recommendations within the report and recommended the 

commencement of a partner selection process (noting the decision to commence the 

process was a Cabinet decision).   

1.2 Companies Committee asked to receive feedback on progress in April 2020, however the 

meeting scheduled for that date was postponed, therefore this report sets out the current 

position and proposed next steps: 

• Since the decision of 7 January, a number of factors, both national and local, have 
necessitated a change of direction. The Covid-19 outbreak created uncertainty in the 
housing market, partners were cautious to commit to major new developments during 
the initial Covid-19 outbreak.  In addition, a number of the potential partners’ staff 
members responsible for growth and new developments were placed in furlough or 
redeployed on to other business 

• The Chief Executive and Leader of the Council agreed the need to develop a Corporate 
Plan to effectively prioritise developments and Covid-19 response plan (with subsequent 
work refining how these interlinked). The adopted Corporate Plan now provides an 
integrated approach to the housing priorities in South Kesteven, addressing both HRA 
and market housing issues 

1.3 Throughout the development of the proposed housing partnership, the Council has formed 

strong relationships with players in the housing market, including Homes England, housing 

associations, land owners and developers. These relationships can be built upon to deliver 

a range of approaches to support the District in meeting its housing needs and development 

aspirations as approved in the South Kesteven Local Plan. 

2 Strategic Context  

Context - Corporate Plan 

2.1 A Corporate Plan has been developed, setting out the vision and the five priorities of the 

Council, alongside key actions that will deliver these. The Corporate Plan was commended 

by Cabinet on 8 September 2020 and approved at Full Council on 1 October 2020. While 

delivering appropriate housing in the District remains a priority (including affordable 

provision), developing a housing partnership is not considered a key priority at this time.  

Many other key actions and interventions identified within the Corporate Plan require 

significant capital commitment (such as the Leisure Investment Programme), therefore 

restricting the ability for the Council to invest in a long-term housing partnership at this time.  

Context – Covid-19 

2.2 Since the last report, the Covid-19 pandemic resulted in a national lockdown causing 

significant contraction in the economy across the UK. There is currently further activity 

underway to put in place processes to enable an effective response to a second wave.  

Priorities for the Council have been adjusted to reflect the new reality and a significant 

refocus is upon support to residents and local businesses.  

2.3 It is worth noting that the Government has stated that it will be prioritising building and 

infrastructure as a way to re-start the economy.  Therefore, it is important that any approach 

South Kesteven District Council develops enables ‘oven ready’ projects within the District 

to access external Government funding. It is anticipated that a new infrastructure and 

124



 
 

investment programme to stimulate house building will be announced by Government 

before the end of 2020 and the preferred option outlined in this report is likely to put SKDC 

in a strong position to respond to any new Government investment programme. 

Context – Housing Delivery 

2.4 The Council has a strategic aim to grow the local economy and deliver sustainable 

communities. In order to achieve this ambition, the District would need to see a greater 

number of new homes being built, importantly, including affordable provision. The key 

challenges faced in supporting housing growth in the District are: 

• The Council has very little General Fund land on which to deliver its own market housing  

• There is a limited number of landowners in the district that own a relatively large 
proportion of land suitable for housing development – thus, restricting supply. 

2.5 The viability of Grantham for housing projects is very limiting in the private sector and at 

present the sales absorption rate per annum is very small with weak demand. The model 

developed shared risk with a long-term housing development expert in return for sharing the 

investment required. With the uncertainties created by Covid-19 the returns are less certain, 

and rents and house prices may decline while land retains its value in the area (due to the 

limited number of landowners). It is possible that a partnership could be developed and not 

be able to find viable sites to develop, albeit several potential housing experts are still 

interested in partnering in this environment and willing to share the investment risk.   

2.6 Over the past two years housing delivery in South Kesteven has exceeded the annual target 

of 650 set out in the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036, with 729 homes being 

completed in 2019/20 (the highest number in over a decade), with growth particularly strong 

in the south of the District. It should be noted that, in line with national trends, the impact of 

Covid-19 means that the number of completions in 2020/21 is anticipated to be much lower.   

3 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

External Consultation 

3.1 The Council has maintained a dialogue with Homes England, which is keen to support 

housing delivery in the region and particularly around Grantham. It has praised both the 

Council’s ambition and recognised that qualities (infrastructure links, access to green space 

and relatively inexpensive housing) are strong positive aspects that could fuel demand for 

housing in the area. In addition, an emerging opportunity has been identified related to the 

changes in working practices and greater adoption of home working - which could increase 

the desirability of Grantham as a place to live in the future.  

3.2 The officers working on the project have communicated regularly with potential partners and 

have informally given an indication that the Council may not wish to pursue a housing 

partnership in 2020. Feedback from potential partners has been that they although they 

would be disappointed if the Council chose not to continue with this approach, there is an 

understanding of the change of context and the need for South Kesteven District Council to 

prioritise resources differently in the light of the impact of Covid-19. Many have also 

indicated a keenness to work with SKDC in other ways in the near future and explore, 

alongside the Council, future opportunities that present themselves. 

Internal Consultation 

3.3 As part of developing this report, the Covid-19 response and the Corporate Plan, there have 

been ongoing discussions with officers and Members.   

125



 
 

4 Available Options Considered 

Option 1 – Do Nothing 

4.1 The Council could choose to withdraw from proactive approaches to work with the housing 

market. However, this would not fit with the ambition of the Council set out in the adopted 

Corporate Plan and is highly likely to lead to South Kesteven failing to deliver the number 

and type of homes the District requires. Therefore, this option is discounted. 

Option 2 – Continue with the selection process for a preferred partner 

4.2 The selection process could be continued, and a decision made as to whether to formalise 

the partnership after proposals are returned. Although this would provide the Council with 

more information about the specifics of such a partnership before committing to an 

investment, it would involve considerable cost for both the Council and potential partners in 

undertaking a selection process. It would also have a negative reputational impact if the 

Council chose not to pursue the partnership at a later point. Positive feedback from informal 

discussions with potential partners was that a firm ‘go/no-go’ decision should be made at 

this juncture. Therefore, this option was discounted.   

Option 3 – Work proactively with the housing market to pursue other approaches 

4.3 This option builds on the positive relationships that have been developed across the sector 

to work proactively with organisations in the housing market to meet South Kesteven’s 

housing needs. This option will enable the Council to consider a range of options to stimulate 

delivery, such as: further developing the Special Projects function in the Growth team, 

facilitating the development of partnerships between other players in the housing market 

(e.g. landowners, developers and housing associations) and entering into agreements on a 

site-by-site basis (either via the General Fund or Housing Revenue Account). In addition, 

the Council can seek to access external infrastructure investment to support the viability of 

schemes.   

4.4 This approach would avoid creating upfront investment costs and provide further information 

and opportunities to re-consider a longer-term partnership at a future point. This is the 

preferred option at this point in time. 

5 Preferred Option 

5.1 The optimal option at this point in time is option 3, as this provides the opportunity to 

continue to build on positive relationships within the housing market and stimulate housing 

delivery within the District, while avoiding the need to commit to significant, long-term 

investments at this point in time.    

5.2 There will be an opportunity to review the Council’s position once there is a greater degree 

of certainty around the economic recovery from Covid-19, with the potential to re-prioritise 

the delivery of a long-term housing partnership.  It is proposed that this is considered as part 

of the annual review of the Corporate Plan.  

6 Lessons Learned 

6.1 The key lessons learned are as follows: 

• Prioritisation of strategies – the Council has numerous ambitions, many of which require 
investment. The development of the Corporate Plan now provides a framework for 
directing resources to support the achievement of the highest priorities and the annual 
review process will enable this to respond to changes in internal and external conditions. 

126



 
 

• Regular and robust project oversight by member-level project boards should be 
established, in order to regularly review major projects at appropriate times in their 
project lifecycles, to minimise abortive costs. 

7 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

7.1 It is recommended that the Companies Committee notes that the strategic partnership to 

create ‘HomesSK’ is not pursued at this time, due to a number of other competing priorities 

for capital investment and the impact of Covid-19 on the viability of long-term housing 

investment partnerships.  

7.2 Companies Committee is also asked to note the commitment of the Council to build on the 

work to date and positive relationships developed with players within the housing market to 

stimulate the long term, sustainable delivery of the homes South Kesteven needs as it is felt 

that this is currently the most effective way of stimulating delivery. 

8 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

8.1 The decision not to pursue the housing partnership at this time will be communicated 

formally to Homes England and potential partners. As part of that communication, potential 

partners will be invited to meet with senior representatives from South Kesteven District 

Council to discuss the opportunity to build on the positive relationships developed, and work 

together in different ways to secure the ongoing delivery of homes in South Kesteven. 

9 Financial Implications  

9.1 Council has approved specific resources to support this proposal and during 2019/20 salary 

costs of £163k were allocated and £176k for 2020/21.  These costs were funded by the HRA 

reserve which allocated £250k for each of the two financial years   

9.2 In the last financial year a total £239,000 was charged to the Housing Revenue Account, 

against an approved budget allocation of £250,000. To the end of August £76,000 has been 

incurred. The expenditure is broken down as follows: 

Category 2019/20 Amount (£000’s) 2020/21 Amount (£000’s) 

– to date (up to end 

August 2020) 

Employee Costs * 224 75 

Expenses 2 1 

External Fees (Legal, 

Treasury Management and 

Housing Advice) 

13 0 

TOTAL 239 76 

 

* This includes a £30k contribution to the planning team 

9.3 There is currently a further allocation of £250,000 for 2020-21. Due to the impact of Covid-

19, officers working on this project have been primarily focussed on supporting the 

response. All other costs associated with the project have been deferred.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

127



 
 

10 Legal and Governance Implications  

10.1 No legal commitments have been entered into with any partners, and so there are no legal 

implications from aborting the project at this stage. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

11.1 Pausing this project has a neutral impact on protected groups. 

12 Risk and Mitigation 

12.1 Relationships with the housing sector – there is a risk not pursuing the housing partnership 

at this time could impact on relationships with the housing sector.  However, this risk is being 

mitigated by ongoing, positive communication with the sector (at both political and officer 

level) and a commitment to building on positive relationships to meet South Kesteven District 

Council’s housing ambition for the District. The preferred option outlined within this report 

provides significant scope for working successfully with land owners, developers and 

housing associations in achieving housing delivery. 

12.2 Homes England partnership work – the Council has developed a very positive relationship 

with Homes England and engaged them strongly in the housing ambition for the District, 

there is a risk that it could be perceived that the Council’s ambition for housing is reducing.  

However, this is being strongly mitigated by the recent creation of a senior officer working 

group between South Kesteven District Council and Homes England to unlock growth within 

the District (particularly in Grantham) - reaffirming SKDC’s commitment to delivery. This 

group is focussing strongly on optimising delivery (and learning from best practice 

elsewhere) via the routes outlined within this report.  

12.3 Housing Targets within the Local Plan – there is a risk that not pursuing a housing 

partnership could impact on the delivery of housing targets. However, the preferred option 

outlined within this report sets out a number of ways in which South Kesteven District 

Council can positively interact with the housing market to secure ongoing delivery. In 

addition, there is an opportunity via the annual review of the Corporate Plan to consider 

pursuing a longer-term housing partnership at an appropriate time. 

13 Community Safety Implications  

13.1 There are no community safety implications arising as a result of this report. 

14 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?  

14.1 Pausing the project has a neutral carbon impact. 

15 Background Papers 

15.1 Housing Delivery in South Kesteven – Companies Committee 7 January 2020 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24518/Housing%20Delivery%20in%20South%20Kest

even.pdf 

128

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24518/Housing%20Delivery%20in%20South%20Kesteven.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24518/Housing%20Delivery%20in%20South%20Kesteven.pdf


 

Companies Committee: Work Programme 2020/21 

No  Company/ 
Item 

Meeting Date Lead Officer/ 
Assigned to 
(SKDC Job Role) 

Requirements and decisions Notes  
(including reporting 
timeframes) 

1.  HomesSK  
 
 
21 Oct 2020 
 

Ken Lyon, 
Assistant Chief 
Executive, 
Housing Delivery 
 
 

• Position statement to provide the 
Committee with an update on the current 
status of the company 

• A review of the company moving forward 

 

2.  LeisureSK Karen Whitfield, 
Head of Leisure 
 

• To consider the proposed company 
structure and five-year business plan. 

 
 

 

3.  East Midlands 
Building Control 
 

 
10 Nov 2020 

Rob Howbrook,  
Building Control 
Lead Officer 

To consider the following: 
 

• Update report including the impact of 
COVID-19 

 

Annually: 

• Business Plan 

• Financial figures 

4.  No items added 
for this meeting 
 
 

 
23 Feb 2021 
 
 

   

5.  InvestSK  
 
 
 
 
 
27 April 2021 
 

InvestSK Board 
 

• Review of Business Plan (including the 
Stakeholder Management and 
Communication Strategy) 

• Management Accounts 

• AGM Notes (if available) 

Six monthly: 

• Business Plan 

• Management accounts 
 
Annually: 
AGM notes 
 

6.  EnvironmentSK Ian Yates, 
Assistant Director 
for Commercial 
and Operations 

• Review of Business Plan  

• Management Accounts 

• Sales figures 

• AGM Notes (if available) 

Six monthly: 

• Business Plan 

• Management accounts 

• Sales figures 
 
Annually: 
AGM notes 
 

129

A
genda Item

 7



 

 
Items for future consideration 

 

7.  Gravitas Housing 
Limited  

TBC 
(Moved from 
October 2020 to 
allow the new 
Directors the 
opportunity to 
develop the 
Business Plan) 

Richard Wyles, 
Interim Director of 
Finance 
 
Director of 
Housing and 
Property 
(when recruited) 
 

To consider the following: 
 

• Gravitas Business Plan  

• Update on the Wherry’s Lane project 
 

Business Plan to be developed in line with the 
template provided at the Companies Committee 
workshop 

 

Six monthly: 

• Business Plan 

• Management accounts 
 
Annually: 

• AGM notes 

8.  Wherry’s Lane 
Management 
Company Limited 
 

TBC 
 

 
 

• To consider reporting requirements  

• To receive detailed accounts 
 

Annually: 

• Annual accounts 

• AGM notes 

9.  Auber’s Ridge 
Management 
Company 

TBC  • Annual accounts 

• AGM notes 

Annually: 

• Annual accounts 

• AGM notes 

 
 
Notes: 
 

• Reports to have front-sheets with recommendations and to be reviewed by the Section 151 and Monitoring Officer    

• Vice Chair and Monitoring Officer to be notified of papers proposed to be exempt  

• All Business Plans to be developed in line with the agreed template (please contact Democratic Services if you would like a copy) 
 

130


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 22 September 2020
	4 Updates from the previous meeting
	5 LeisureSK - company structure and business plan
	Appendix One - Draft Resource Agreement
	Appendix Two - Draft Articles of Association
	Appendix Three - Draft Members Agreement
	Appendix Four - NED Recruitment Pack
	Appendix Five SLC LeisureSK Business Plan Report
	Appendix Six - Inc and Exp Forecast Years 1 and 2
	Exempt Appendix Seven

	6 Update on Housing Delivery Partnership
	7 Work Programme

